University of South Florida

DIGITAL COMMONS @ UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA

Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

2005

Longtime Dynamics of Hyperbolic Evolutionary Equations in **Unbounded Domains and Lattice Systems**

Djiby Fall University of South Florida

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd



Part of the American Studies Commons

Scholar Commons Citation

Fall, Djiby, "Longtime Dynamics of Hyperbolic Evolutionary Equations in Unbounded Domains and Lattice Systems" (2005). USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations. https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/2875

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

Longtime Dynamics of Hyperbolic Evolutionary Equations in Unbounded Domains and Lattice Systems

by

Djiby Fall

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Mathematics College of Arts and Sciences University of South Florida

Major Professor: Yuncheng You, Ph.D Athanassios Kartsatos, Ph.D Wen-Xiu Ma, Ph.D Marcus McWaters, Ph.D

> Date of Approval: April 7, 2005

Keywords: global attractor, wave equation, absorbing set asymptotic compactness, lattice system

©Copyright 2005, Djiby Fall



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I express my profound gratitude to my supervisor Professor Yuncheng You for proposing me such an interesting topic. His guidance with enthusiastic encouragements has been supportive during the time of my preparation. More than once, I have been inspired by his original ideas throughout the course of this research.

My warmest appreciations also go to Professors Athanassios Kartsatos, Wen-Xiu Ma and Marcus McWaters for accepting to be part of the supervising committee. I have greatly benefited from their constant consideration for my progress.

I would like to thank Professor David Rabson of the Physics Department for kindly accepting to be the chairperson of the defense committee. His comments and suggestions on my work have been a valuable source of inspiration.

I am deeply indebted to the mathematics department at the University of South Florida for its generous financial, mathematical and personal support during all these 4 years of graduate studies.

Thanks to all those who, by their friendship or by their encouragements, have contributed to an appropriate frame of mind for this work. I cannot find the right words to thank my loving parents and all my family who provided, as they have throughout my life, a kind concern and care that has always stimulated and sustained me.

Table of Contents

Ab	ostrac	t			ii
1	INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL CONCEPTS			1	
	1.1	1.1 Semiflows and Attractors			. 4
	1.2	Evolutionary Equations and Semigroup Theory			. 6
		1.2.1	Semigroups of Linear Operators		. 6
		1.2.2	Nonlinear Evolution Equations		. 10
	1.3	Some U	Useful Inequalities		. 12
2	ATTRACTORS FOR DAMPED WAVE EQUATIONS			14	
	2.1	The W	ave Equation with Mass Term		. 15
		2.1.1	Existence of Solutions and Absorbing Set		. 15
		2.1.2	Global Attractor		. 21
	2.2	The W	Yave Equation Without Mass Term		. 33
3	DYNAMICS OF SECOND ORDER LATTICE SYSTEMS			39	
	3.1 The Existence and Boundedness of Solutions				. 40
		3.1.1	The Existence and Uniqueness of Solutions		. 41
		3.1.2	The Boundedness of Solutions		. 43
	3.2	Global	Attractor		. 46
4	4 FINAL REMARKS				52
Re	eferen	ces			57
About the Author				End :	Page

Longtime Dynamics of Hyperbolic Evolutionary Equations in Unbounded Domains and Lattice Systems

Djiby Fall

ABSTRACT

This dissertation is a contribution to the study of longtime dynamics of evolutionary equations in unbounded domains and of lattice systems. It is of particular interest to prove the existence of global attractors for solutions of such equations. To this end, one needs in general some type of asymptotical compactness. In the case that the evolutionary PDE is defined on a bounded domain Ω in space, asymptotical compactness follows from the regularity estimates and the compactness of the Sobolev embeddings and therefore the existence of attractors has been established for most of the dissipative equations of mathematical physics in a bounded domain. The problem is more challenging when Ω is unbounded since the Sobolev embeddings are no longer compact, so that the usual regularity estimates may not be sufficient.

To overcome this obstacle of compactness, A.V. Babin and M.I. Vishik introduced some weighted Sobolev spaces. In their pioneering paper [2], they established the existence of a global attractor for the reaction-diffusion equation

$$u_t - \nu \Delta u + f(u) + \lambda u = g, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^N$$
 (1)

Lately, a new technique of "tail estimation" has been introduced by B. Wang [49] to prove the existence of global attractors for the reaction-diffusion equation (1) in the usual Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. In this research we take on the same approach to prove the existence

of attracting sets for some nonlinear wave equations and hyperbolic lattice systems.

The dissertation is organized as follows. In the first part (Chapter 2), we prove the existence of a global attractor in $H_0^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for the wave equation

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \Delta u + u + f(u) = g, \quad t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$
 (2)

Removing the coercive mass term u from (2), we achieve the same result for the more challenging equation

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \Delta u + f(u) = g, \quad t > 0, \ x \in \Omega$$
 (3)

where Ω is a domain of \mathbb{R}^N bounded only in one direction.

The second part of the dissertation deals with some lattice systems. We establish in Chapter 3 the existence of global attractor for the equation

$$\ddot{u}_i + \lambda \dot{u}_i - (u_{i-1} - 2u_i + u_{i+1}) + f(u_i) = g_i, \qquad i \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(4)

which is a spatial discretization of (3).

1 INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL CONCEPTS

Henri Poincaré (1854-1912) is often referred to as the father of "nonlinear dynamics". Toward the end of the nineteenth century, he for the first time pointed out that irregular behaviors in mechanics are not at all an unusual feature if the system being studied involves a nonlinear interaction. Very simple systems can have highly complex dynamics. The behavior of the solutions of such systems over longer time is quite irregular and practically cannot be predicted. Since Poincaré the study of nonlinear dynamics started to develop, with major contributions of great mathematicians and physicists such as Lyapunov (1857-1918) and Birkhoff (1884-1944) who developed the concept of dynamical systems as we know it today. Meanwhile the study of nonlinear dynamics extends far beyond mechanics to many fields not only of physics but also of chemistry, biology, economics etc. Before 1950, it primarily focused on the finite dimensional systems usually modeled by ordinary differential equations.

The theory for the evolutionary partial differential equations was slower to emerge. This theory along with the study of differential-delay and lattice systems constitute what is known as infinite dimensional dynamical systems. The literature is extensive on the study of these systems, mainly for partial differential equations in a bounded domain, see for instance J. Hale [23], G. Sell & Y. You [42] or R. Temam [47], and the references therein. It is just recently, since the pioneering work of Babin and Vishik [2], that mathematicians got interested in the dynamics of partial differential equations in unbounded domains. In this direction, several types of evolutionary equations have been investigated with interesting results; yet there are still lots of open problems and large room for mathematical contributions.

One can be interested in different features in the study of the dynamics of a system:

singularity formations, finite-time blow up, existence of chaos, attracting sets, bifurcation theory, invariant manifolds, exponential dichotomies, stability, ... etc. In this work we focus on the longtime behavior of the solutions of evolutionary equations in unbounded domains and of lattice systems. In particular, the topic is the existence of global attractors. The global attractor is a compact invariant set attracting the trajectory bundles of all bounded subsets as time goes to infinity. Therefore, if it exists, a global attractor contains all the essential, permanent dynamics of the system. And very often the global attractor has finite fractal (or Hausdorff) dimension, thus reducing the initial infinite dimensional problem to a finite dimensional one in the long run.

In the current theory of infinite dimensional dynamical systems, the global attractor is a highlighted, core topic. The existence of global attractors for dissipative systems follows in general from some type of asymptotical compactness of the corresponding semiflow. This is proved in case the domain Ω is bounded by a priori estimates and the compactness of Sobolev embeddings. This method seems not to work when the domain is unbounded since the Sobolev embeddings are no longer compact. It then becomes a difficult task to deal with this compactness issue. Two major techniques seem to work in overcoming this difficulty: working with weighted Sobolev spaces as phase space or using the "tail estimation methods".

In 1990 Babin and Vishik [2] for the first time showed the existence of a global attractor for the reaction-diffusion equation in \mathbb{R}^N ,

$$u_t - \nu \Delta u + f(u) + \lambda u = g. \tag{1.1}$$

To this end they used the weighted Sobolev space $L^2_{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as phase space. They proved, for $\gamma < 0$, the existence of a global attractor in the weak topology under certain growth conditions on the nonlinearity f. For $\gamma > 0$, the attractor is in the strong topology and if g(x) decreases sufficiently fast, then the attractors for different γ do not depend on γ .

In 1994 Feireisl, Laurençot, Simondon and Touré [20] considered a similar equation as (1.1) without the mass term λu and they showed that for $\gamma < -\frac{N}{2}$, the attractor is indeed in the strong topology of $L^2_{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Some other authors have also considered weighted spaces for different types of equations.

For the wave equation

$$u_{tt} + \delta u_t - \phi(x)\Delta u + \lambda f(u) = \eta(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad t > 0,$$

N.I. Karachalios amd N.M. Stavrakakis [24] established the existence and finite dimensionality of a global attractor in $L_g^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ where $g(x) = \frac{1}{\phi(x)}$.

Working with the weighted spaces has a disadvantage of restraining the choice of the initial data. In 1999, B. Wang [49] came up with the new idea of "tail estimations" to prove the asymptotic compactness of the semiflow generated by the reaction-diffusion equation (1.1). This led to the existence of a global attractor in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for system (1.1). This method features an approximation of \mathbb{R}^N by sufficiently large bounded domains Ω_k and then show the null convergence of the solutions in $\mathbb{R}^n - \Omega_k$. This method has been useful to studying the dynamics of many evolutionary equations in unbounded domains as well as lattice dynamical systems (see for instance [4, 49, 43, 50, 28]).

The dynamics of nonlinear wave equations in unbounded domains have been extensively studied by Eduard Feireisl. In [16] he showed the existence of global attractor for 3D wave equation in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, but for the n-dimensional problem the attractor is only locally compact, see [17]. Similar results have been obtained in [53].

It seems little is known on the existence of global attractor in the traditional Sobolev spaces for nonlinear wave equations in unbounded domains. In Chapter 2, we consider the damped wave equation with mass term,

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \Delta u + u + f(u) = g(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad t > 0$$
(1.2)

and show the existence of global attractor for the corresponding dynamical system. This is done by applying the generalized "tail end estimation" method introduced in [4] and [49]. Moreover, removing the mass term in (1.2), we achieve the existence result for the equation

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \Delta u + f(u) = g(x), \qquad x \in \Omega, \quad t > 0$$
(1.3)

where Ω is a domain of \mathbb{R}^N , bounded only in one direction. This features the use of the Poincaré inequality to achieve the monotonicity of the linear operator for the corresponding

transformed first-order problem.

In Chapter 3 we study the dynamics of the seconder order lattice system, without mass term,

$$\ddot{u}_i + \lambda \dot{u}_i - (u_{i-1} - 2u_i + u_{i+1}) + f(u_i) = g_i, \qquad i \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(1.4)

which can be seen as a spatial discretization of (1.3)in one dimension.

In chapter 4 we give some remarks on the dimension f the global attractors and present some new directions with interesting open problems.

Before we get into the details of our work, let us introduce first the basic definitions and results relevant to the general theory of dynamical systems. We present in this introductory chapter the notions of semiflows and attractors along with a brief presentation of the theory of semigroups and its relation to solving abstract nonlinear equations in a Banach space. We also give an example of a sectorial operator and we finish with some inequalities that will be useful in the subsequent chapters.

1.1 Semiflows and Attractors

We will use in this work the definition of semiflows as in Temam [47]. A stronger version can be found in Sell & You [42], where the only difference is the continuity property.

Definition 1.1.1 Let (H, d) be a complete metric space. A family of operators $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ is called a **semiflow** on H, if it satisfies the following properties:

1.
$$S(0) = I$$
 (identity in H), i.e. $S(0)u = u \quad \forall u \in H$,

2.
$$S(t)S(s) = S(t+s), \quad \forall s, t \in \mathbb{R}^+,$$

3. The mapping $S(t): H \to H$ is continuous for every $t \ge 0$.

We introduce now the concepts of invariant sets and attractors of a semiflow

Definition 1.1.2 Let S(t) be a semiflow on H and $K \subset H$. We say that K is **positively** invariant if $S(t)K \subset K$, for all $t \geq 0$. K is invariant if S(t)K = K, for all $t \geq 0$.

To define attractors we will need the following asymmetric Hausdorff pseudodistance:

$$\sup_{a \in A} \inf_{b \in B} d(A, b) \tag{1.5}$$

where A, B are bounded sets in H.

We say that A attracts B if

$$h(S(t)B, A) \to 0,$$
 as $t \to \infty$, (1.6)

that is: for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $T \geq 0$ such that $d(S(t)u, A) \leq \varepsilon$, for all $t \geq T$ and $u \in B$.

Definition 1.1.3 A subset A of H is called an **attractor** for the semiflow S(t) provided that

- 1. A is a compact, invariant set in H, and
- 2. there is a neighborhood U of A in H such that A attracts every bounded set in U.

An attractor A that attracts every bounded set in H is called a **global attractor**.

The existence of global attractor is in general related to what some authors call the "dissipativity" of the dynamical system. This is equivalent to the existence of absorbing sets.

Definition 1.1.4 Let \mathcal{B} be a subset of H and \mathcal{U} an open set containing \mathcal{B} . We say that \mathcal{B} is an **absorbing set** in \mathcal{U} if the orbit of any bounded set in \mathcal{U} enters into \mathcal{B} after a finite time (which may depend on the set):

$$\begin{cases} \forall \mathcal{B}_0 \subset \mathcal{U}, \quad \mathcal{B}_0 \text{ bounded} \\ \exists t_1(\mathcal{B}_0) \text{ such that } S(t)\mathcal{B}_0 \subset \mathcal{B}, \quad \forall t \geq t_1(\mathcal{B}_0). \end{cases}$$

We also say that \mathcal{B} attracts the bounded sets of \mathcal{U} .

We have also the related concept of asymptotical compactness.

Definition 1.1.5 A semiflow $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ is said to be **asymptotically compact** on \mathcal{U} if for every bounded sequence $\{u_n\}$ in \mathcal{U} and $t_n \to \infty$, $\{S(t_n)u_n\}_{t\geq 0}$ is precompact in H.

We are now ready to present a standard result on the existence of global attractors which can be found in [23, 47].

Theorem 1.1.1 Let $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ be a semiflow in X. If $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ has a bounded absorbing set and is asymptotically compact in H, then $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ possesses a global attractor which is a compact invariant set that attracts every bounded set in H.

1.2 Evolutionary Equations and Semigroup Theory

In practice semiflows are generated by the solutions of differential equations. We will consider abstract nonlinear ODEs of the form

$$\frac{du}{dt} + Au = F(u, t) \tag{1.7}$$

in a Banach space X, where A is an unbounded linear operator in X and $F: X \times \mathbb{R} \to X$ is a nonlinear functional. In this section we will present the general existence theory for equations such as (1.7). This will apply directly to a wide range of evolutionary partial differential equations. We will first give some basic notions on semigroup theory which is related to solving the corresponding linear problem

$$\frac{du}{dt} + Au = 0. (1.8)$$

1.2.1 Semigroups of Linear Operators

In the remainder of this section, X denotes a Banach space with norm $\|\cdot\|_X$ and $\mathcal{L}(X)$ is the space of bounded linear operators on X.

Definition 1.2.1 We will say that a family of operators $\{T(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ is a $\mathbf{C_0}$ -semigroup of linear operators on X, if $T(t) \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ for all $t \in [0, +\infty)$ and the following hold:

(i)
$$T(0) = I$$
 (identity in X)

(ii)
$$T(t)T(s) = T(t+s), \quad s, t \in [0, +\infty)$$

(iii)
$$\lim_{t\to 0^+} T(t)x = x$$
, for all $x \in X$.

We see that a C_0 -semigroup is a typical example of a semiflow on X.

Definition 1.2.2 Let T(t) be a C_0 -semigroup on X, its **infinitesimal generator** is the linear operator A on X defined as follows

• The domain of A is:

$$D(A) = \{x \in X : \lim_{h \to 0^+} \frac{T(h) - I}{h} x \text{ exists in } X\}$$

• for $x \in D(A)$ we set:

$$Ax = \lim_{h \to 0^+} \frac{T(h) - I}{h}x = \frac{d^+(T(t)x)}{dt}|_{t=0}.$$

Next we will give a necessary and sufficient condition for an operator to be the infinitesimal generator of a C_0 -semigroup in a Hilbert space H. We need to introduce first some concepts. Let H be a Hilbert space with inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. A linear operator $A: D(A)(\subset H) \to H$ is said to be **accretive** if

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle Ax, x \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in D(A).$$

If in addition we have R(I+A)=H (range of I+A is equal to H) then we say that A is maximal accretive.

A C_0 -semigroup is said to be **nonexpansive** if $||T(t)|| \le 1$ for every $t \ge 0$.

Theorem 1.2.1 (Lumer-Phillips) Let H be a Hilbert space. Then a linear operator -A: $D(A)(\subset H) \to H$ is the infinitesimal generator of a nonexpansive C_0 -semigroup e^{-At} on H if and only if both the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) A is a closed linear operator and D(A) is dense in H, and
- (2) A is a maximal accretive operator.

This is a classical result on semigroups and their generators. The proof can be found in [38, 42]. However this result applies only to Hilbert spaces; there is a more general one on Banach spaces, namely the **Hille-Yosida** theorem.

As we mentioned in the beginning of this section, the semigroup theory will allow us to solve the linear problem (1.8). Indeed let A be the generator of a C_0 -semigroup T(t) on X; it is shown that for every $x_0 \in D(A)$, $T(t)x_0$ is a solution of equation (1.8) in the classical sense. For $x_0 \in X$ we call $x(t) = T(t)x_0$ a **mild solution** of (1.8). The existence of solutions in the classical sense is related to the differentiability of the C_0 -semigroup and there is a particular class of differentiable semigroups called **analytic semigroups**.

Definition 1.2.3 We will say that T(t) is an analytic semigroup in X if there is an extension of it to a mapping T(z) defined on some sector $\Delta_{\delta} \cup \{0\}$ such that:

- (1) $T(z_1 + z_2) = T(z_1)T(z_2)$ for all z_1 and z_2 in $\Delta_{\delta} \cup \{0\}$,
- (2) for each $x \in X$, one has $T(z)x \to x$ as $z \to 0$ in $\Delta_{\delta} \cup \{0\}$,
- (3) for each $x \in X$, the function $z \to T(z)x$ is an analytic mapping from Δ_{δ} into X where the sector Δ_{δ} is defined as

$$\Delta_{\delta} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |arg z| < \delta, z \neq 0 \}, \quad for \ \delta \in (0, \pi).$$

A related concept is that of sectorial operators.

Definition 1.2.4 A linear operator $A:D(A)\subset X\to X$ is said to be a **sectorial operator** on X if it satisfies the following:

- (1) A is densely defined and closed,
- (2) there exist real numbers $a \in \mathbb{R}, \sigma \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ and $M \ge 1$ such that one has $\Sigma_{\sigma}(a) \subset \rho(A)$ and

$$||R(\lambda, A)|| \le \frac{M}{|\lambda - a|}, \quad \text{for all } \lambda \in \Sigma_{\sigma}(a)$$
 (1.9)

where $\rho(A)$ is the resolvent set of A, $R(\lambda, A)$ the resolvent operator and $\Sigma_{\sigma}(a)$ defined as:

$$\Sigma_{\sigma}(a) = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |arg(z-a)| > \sigma, \ z \neq a \}.$$

The next theorem which can be found in [38, 42] gives the relation between analytic semigroups and sectorial operators **Theorem 1.2.2** Let T(t) be a C_0 -semigroup on X with infinitesimal generator A and let $M \geq 1$, $a \in \mathbb{R}$ be chosen so that $||T(t)|| \leq Me^{-at}$, for all $t \geq 0$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (1) T(t) is an analytic semigroup and there is an analytic extension semigroup T(z) defined on some sector $\Delta_{\delta} \cup \{0\}$ with $0 < \delta < \frac{\pi}{2}$, and a constant $M_1 \ge M$ such that $||T(z)|| \le M_1 e^{-aR_e z}$ for $z \in \Delta_{\delta}$.
- (2) A is a sectorial operator and one has

$$||R(\lambda, A)|| \le \frac{M_2}{|\lambda - a|}, \quad \text{for all } \lambda \in \Sigma_{\xi}(a),$$
 (1.10)

for appropriate constants $M_2 \geq 1$ and $\xi \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$.

Moreover, T(t) is a differentiable semigroup.

For many partial differential equations, particularly the parabolic ones, the corresponding linear operator is sectorial. In the following example we present some elliptic operators that turn out to be sectorial. This will be used in the next chapter to show that the transformed linear operator for the nonlinear wave equation is maximal accretive.

Example 1.2.1 Let Ω be either \mathbb{R}^n or an open bounded subset of \mathbb{R}^n with uniformly C^2 boundary $\partial\Omega$.

We consider a second order differential operator

$$A(x, D) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x)D_{ij} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_{i}(x)D_{i} + c(x)I$$

with real uniformly continuous and bounded coefficients a_{ij}, b_i, c .

We assume that the matrix $[a_{ij}]$ is symmetric and that it satisfies the uniform ellipticity condition

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \xi_i \xi_j \ge \mu |\xi|^2, \quad x \in \Omega, \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{1.11}$$

for some $\mu > 0$. Moreover if $\Omega \neq \mathbb{R}^n$, we consider a first order differential operator acting on the boundary

$$\mathcal{B}(x,D) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i(x)D_i + \gamma(x)I. \tag{1.12}$$

We assume that β_i, γ , belong to $UC^1(\bar{\Omega})$, and that the uniform nontangentiality condition

$$\inf_{x \in \partial \Omega} \left| \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i(x) \nu(x) \right| > 0 \tag{1.13}$$

holds, with $\nu(x)$ being the exterior unit normal vector to $\partial\Omega$ at $x\in\partial\Omega$.

Let $X = L^p(\Omega)$, $1 , be endowed with the usual norm <math>\|\cdot\|_p$. Let $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$, $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$ denote the usual Sobolev spaces on Ω with the usual norms.

If $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ we set

$$D(A) = W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n), \qquad Au = \mathcal{A}(\cdot, D)u \qquad \text{for } u \in D(A)$$

If $\Omega \neq \mathbb{R}^n$, we set

$$D(A_0) = W^{2,p}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{2,p}(\Omega), \quad A_0 u = \mathcal{A}(\cdot, D)u \quad \text{for } u \in D(A_0)$$

$$D(A_1) = \{ u \in W^{2,p}(\Omega) : \mathcal{B}(\cdot, D)u = 0 \text{ in } \partial\Omega \}, \quad A_1 u = \mathcal{A}(\cdot, D)u \quad \text{ for } u \in D(A_1) \}$$

Theorems 3.1.2, 3.1.3 in [29] state that the operators A, A_0 , A_1 are sectorial operators in X and that there exists ω , ω_1 , $\omega_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\rho(A) \supset \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : R_e \lambda \ge \omega\}, \ \rho(A_0) \supset \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : R_e \lambda \ge \omega_0\}, \ \rho(A_1) \supset \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : R_e \lambda \ge \omega_1\}.$$

This example of sectorial operator will be useful in Chapter 2 when we work with the wave equations.

1.2.2 Nonlinear Evolution Equations

In this section, we will briefly present the existence theory for abstract nonlinear evolutionary equations in a Banach space X. There exists a vast literature on this issue, but we will just give some basic results, see [38, 42, 47].

We consider the following initial value problem in the Banach space X:

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{du}{dt} + Au = F(u) \\
u(t_0) = u_0 \in X, & t \ge t_0 \ge 0.
\end{cases}$$
(1.14)

Assume that the nonlinearity F belongs to $F \in C_{Lip} = C_{Lip}(X,X)$, the collection of all continuous functions $G: X \to X$ that are Lipschitz continuous on every bounded set B in X. We suppose also that -A generates a C_0 -semigroup T(t) on X.

At first, we give different notions of solution for problem (1.14) and then present some existence results for such types of solutions.

Definition 1.2.5 Let $I = [t_0, t_0 + \tau)$ be an interval in \mathbb{R}^+ , where $\tau > 0$. A strongly continuous mapping $u : I \to X$ is said to be a **mild solution** of (1.14) in X if it solves the following integral equation

$$u(t) = T(t - t_0)u_0 + \int_{t_0}^t T(t - s)F(u(s)) ds, \qquad t \in I.$$
(1.15)

If u is differentiable almost everywhere in I with $u_t, Au \in L^1_{loc}(I, X)$, and satisfies the differential equation

$$\frac{du}{dt} + Au = ^{a.e.} F(u), \text{ on } (t_0, t_0 + \tau), \text{ and } u(t_0) = u_0,$$
 (1.16)

then u is called a **strong solution** of (1.14). If in addition, one has $u_t \in C(I, X)$ and the differential equation in (1.16) is satisfied for $t_0 < t < t_0 + \tau$, then u is called a **classical solution** of (1.14) on I.

We have the following result which is a particular case of Theorems 46.1 & 46.2 in G. Sell & Y. You [42].

Theorem 1.2.3 Let -A generate a C_0 -semigroup T(t) on X and $F \in C_{Lip} = C_{Lip}(X, X)$. Then for every $u_0 \in X$ and $t_0 > 0$, the Initial Value Problem (1.14) has a unique mild solution u in X on some interval $I = [t_0, t_0 + \tau)$, for some $\tau > 0$.

Assume that X = H is a Hilbert space or a reflexive Banach space. If $u_0 \in D(A)$ or T(t) is a differentiable semigroup, then the mild solution is a strong one.

Remark 1.2.1 The solution u in Theorem 1.2.3 can be extended to a maximum possible interval I. Indeed u is maximally defined if either $\tau = +\infty$ or $\lim_{t \to \tau^-} ||u(t)||_X = +\infty$.

1.3 Some Useful Inequalities

We present in this section some inequalities that will be used in the consequent chapters. The most used inequality throughout our work is the Gronwall inequality which comes in different forms. We present here some variants of it.

Lemma 1.3.1 (The Gronwall inequality) Suppose that a and b are nonnegative constants and u(t) a nonnegative integrable function. Suppose that the following inequality holds for $0 \le t \le T$:

$$u(t) \le a + b \int_0^t u(s) \, ds.$$
 (1.17)

Then for $0 \le t \le T$, we have

$$u(t) \le ae^{bt}. (1.18)$$

Lemma 1.3.2 (The uniform Gronwall inequality) Let g, h, y be nonnegative functions in $L^1_{loc}[0,T;\mathbb{R})$, where $0 < T \leq \infty$. Assume that y is absolutely continuous on (0,T) and that

$$\frac{dy}{dt} \le gy + h \qquad almost \ everywhere \ on \ (0,T). \tag{1.19}$$

Then $y \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(0,T;\mathbb{R})$ and one has

$$y(t) \le y(t_0) \exp\left(\int_{t_0}^t g(s) \, ds\right) + \int_{t_0}^t \exp\left(\int_s^t g(r) \, dr\right) h(s) \, ds, \tag{1.20}$$

for $0 < t_0 < t < T$. If in addition one has $y \in C[0,T;\mathbb{R})$, then inequality (1.20) is valid at $t_0 = 0$.

The following theorem is concerned with the Poincaré inequality.

Theorem 1.3.1 (Poincaré inequality) Let Ω be a domain of \mathbb{R}^N bounded only in one direction and let $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$. Then there is a positive constant C depending only on Ω and n such that

$$||u||_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C||\nabla u||_{(L^2(\Omega))^N}, \qquad \forall u \in H_0^1(\Omega).$$
 (1.21)

Remark 1.3.1 The Poincaré inequality is usually presented for bounded domains but the proof requires only the boundedness in one direction x_i .

2 ATTRACTORS FOR DAMPED WAVE EQUATIONS

We study in this chapter the existence of a global attractor for the following two damped nonlinear wave equations in an unbounded domain of \mathbb{R}^N :

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \Delta u + u + f(u) = g(x), \quad t > 0$$
(2.1)

and

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \Delta u + f(u) = g(x), \quad t > 0$$
(2.2)

where λ is a positive constant, g is a given function and f is a nonlinear term satisfying some growth conditions to be specified later. The long-time behavior of solutions of such equations in a bounded domain was studied by many authors, for instance in [47], [42] and the references therein.

In the unbounded domain case, there also exists an extensive literature. In 1994, E. Feireisl [16] showed that the more challenging equation (2.2) admits a global attractor in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ when N = 3. For arbitrary n, he obtain in [17] the same result in the phase space $H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N) \times L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

In 2001, S.V. Zelik [53] considered the nonautonomous case for equation (2.1), in which the forcing term g depends on time. He obtained the existence of locally compact global attractor and the upper and lower bounds for their Kolomogorov's ε -entropy. Some other authors have also considered different types of wave equations in unbounded domains ([24], [25]) in weighted spaces.

In this chapter we establish the existence of global attractors in the usual Hilbert spaces $H^1 \times L^2$, for equations (2.1) and (2.2) in unbounded domains of \mathbb{R}^N . To this end we cannot

apply the same procedure as for bounded domains, since the Sobolev embeddings are no longer compact. We will apply the "tail estimation" method, introduced for the first order lattice systems and the reaction diffusion equations ([4, 49, 50]). It features an "approximation" of \mathbb{R}^N by sufficiently large bounded domains Ω_k , then using the compactness of the embeddings in Ω_k and showing the uniform null convergence of the solutions on $\mathbb{R}^N - \Omega_k$, we finally arrive to get the asymptotical compactness of the semiflow.

2.1 The Wave Equation with Mass Term

We consider in this section, the nonlinear wave equation with mass term,

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \triangle u + u + f(u) = g(x), \quad t > 0$$

in \mathbb{R}^N . We shall establish first the existence and boundedness of solutions, then we shall prove the asymptotic compactness of the corresponding semiflow to obtain the global attractor.

2.1.1 Existence of Solutions and Absorbing Set

We start by transforming our problem into an abstract ODE in the space $L^2 \times H^1$ and prove that the new operator is maximal accretive. This will allow us to show the existence of solutions and the uniform boundedness of such solutions.

We consider the system

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \Delta u + u + f(u) = g(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad t > 0$$
(2.3)

with initial conditions

$$u(0,x) = u_0(x), \quad u_t(0,x) = u_1(x) \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^N$$
 (2.4)

where $\lambda > 0$, $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, and $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ satisfies the following condition:

$$f(0) = 0, f(s)s \ge \nu F(s) \ge 0, \forall s \in \mathbb{R}$$
 (2.5)

where ν is a positive constant and $F(s) = \int_0^s f(t) dt$. In addition we assume that

$$0 \le \limsup_{s \to \infty} \frac{f(s)}{s} < \infty \tag{2.6}$$

Now set $H=L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $V=H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$, and $X=V\times H$ with the usual norms and scalar products. We define the operator G in X by:

$$D(G) = H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \times H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$$

$$Gw = \begin{pmatrix} \delta u - v \\ -\Delta u + (\lambda - \delta)v + (\delta^2 - \delta\lambda + 1)u \end{pmatrix}$$
 (2.7)

for $w = (u, v) \in D(G)$.

Then (2.3), (2.4) are equivalent to the initial value problem in X:

$$\begin{cases} w_t + Gw = R(w), & t > 0, \quad w \in X \\ w(0) = w_0 = (u_0, v_0 + \delta u) \end{cases}$$
 (2.8)

where

$$R(w) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -f(u) + g \end{pmatrix}$$

The next result establishes the maximal accretivity of the the operator G in X.

Lemma 2.1.1 For a suitable δ chosen to be $\delta = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda^2 + 4}$, the operator G defined previously is maximal accretive in X, and there exists a constant $C(\delta) > 0$ depending on δ such that

$$\langle Gw, w \rangle_X \ge C(\delta) \|w\|_X^2, \qquad \forall w \in D(G)$$
 (2.9)

Proof: We first prove the positivity. Let $w = (u, v) \in D(G)$, then

$$\langle Gw, w \rangle_X = \langle \delta u - v, u \rangle_V + \langle -\Delta u + (\lambda - \delta)v + (\delta^2 - \delta\lambda + 1)u, v \rangle_H$$

$$= \delta \|u\|_V^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, dx - \langle u, v \rangle_H + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, dx$$

$$+ (\lambda - \delta) \|v\|_H + (\delta^2 - \delta\lambda + 1) \langle u, v \rangle_H$$

$$= \delta \|u\|_V^2 + (\lambda - \delta) \|v\|_H^2 + (\delta^2 - \delta\lambda) \langle u, v \rangle_H$$

Then setting

$$\sigma = \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{\lambda^2 + 4}(\lambda + \sqrt{\lambda^2 + 4})},\tag{2.10}$$

we have

$$\langle G(w) \,, \, w \rangle_X - \sigma(\|u\|_V^2 + \|v\|_H^2) - \frac{\lambda}{2} \|v\|_H^2 \quad \geq \quad (\delta - \sigma) \|u\|_V^2 + (\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma) \|v\|_H^2 \\ - \delta \lambda \|u\|_V \|v\|_H$$

$$\geq \quad 2 \sqrt{(\delta - \sigma)(\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma)} \|u\|_V \|v\|_H \\ - \delta \lambda \|u\|_V \|v\|_H .$$

We can check that $4(\delta - \sigma)(\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma) = \lambda^2 \delta^2$ so that

$$\langle G(w), w \rangle_X - \sigma ||w||_X^2 - \frac{\lambda}{2} ||v||^2 \ge 0.$$

It suffices to take $C(\delta) = \sigma$

Now we prove that the range of G+I equals X. Let $f=(h,g)\in X$; the question is whether there exists a $w=(u,v)\in D(G)$ such that:

$$Gw + w = f$$
?

i.e.
$$\begin{cases} \delta u - v + u = h \\ -\Delta u + (\lambda - \delta)v + (\delta^2 - \delta\lambda + 1)u = g \end{cases}$$

i.e.
$$\begin{cases} v=(\delta+1)u-h\\ -\Delta u+(\lambda-\delta)[(\delta+1)u-h]+(\delta^2-\delta\lambda+1)u=g \end{cases}$$

i.e.
$$\begin{cases} v = (\delta + 1)u - h \\ -\Delta u + (\lambda - \delta + 1)u = g + (\lambda - \delta)h \end{cases}$$

Note that the operator $Au = -\Delta u$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with domain $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is a sectorial operator and there exists $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\varrho(A) \supset \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : Re \lambda \geq \omega\}$ (this is a particular case in Example 1.2.1). So the equation

$$-\Delta u + (\lambda - \delta + 1)u = g + (\lambda - \delta)h$$

has a unique solution $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, thus letting $v = (\delta + 1)u - h$ and w = (u, v), we get a unique $w \in D(G)$ such that Gw + w = f. So the range of G + I equals X. This, with (2.9), shows that G is maximal accretive and finishes the proof of lemma 2.1.1.

Lemma 2.1.1 together with the Lumer-Phillips Theorem 1.2.1 imply that -G generates a nonexpansive C_0 -semigroup e^{-Gt} on X. Furthermore since f verifies (2.6), the operator $R: X \to X$ is locally Lipschitz continuous. By the standard theory of evolutionary equations (see G. R. Sell & Y. You [42], Theorem 46.1) this leads to the existence and uniqueness of local solutions as stated in the next lemma.

Lemma 2.1.2 If $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and f satisfies (2.6), then for any initial data $w_0 = (u_0, v_0) \in X$, there exists a unique local solution w(t) = (u(t), v(t)) of (2.8) such that $w \in C^1((-T_0, T_0), E)$ for some $T_0 = T_0(w_0) > 0$.

In fact we will show that the local solution w(t) of (2.8) is bounded and exists globally.

Lemma 2.1.3 Assume that (2.5) and (2.6) are satisfied and that $g \in H$. Then any solution

w(t) of problem (2.8) satisfies

$$||w(t)||_X \le M, \qquad t \ge T_1$$
 (2.11)

where M is a constant depending only on (λ, g) and T_1 depending on the data (λ, g, R) when $||w_0||_X \leq R$.

Proof: Let $w_0 \in D(G)$ be the initial condition in (2.8). Taking the inner-product of (2.8) with w in X we find that

$$\begin{split} & \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \|w\|_X^2 & = -\langle Gw \,, \, w \rangle_X + \langle R(w), \, w \rangle_E \\ \\ & = -\langle Gw \,, \, w \rangle_X + \langle g \,, \, v \rangle_H - \langle f \,, \, v \rangle_H \\ \\ & \leq -C(\delta) \|w\|_X^2 + \|g\|_H \|v\|_H - \delta \langle f(u) \,, \, u \rangle_H - \langle f(u) \,, \, u_t \rangle_H, \end{split}$$

by (2.5) we have

$$-\delta \langle f(u), u \rangle_H \le -\delta \nu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) dx$$

and

$$-\langle f(u), u_t \rangle_H = -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) \, dx.$$

Then using the Young inequality, it follows for any $\alpha > 0$ that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|w\|_X^2 \le -C(\delta)\|w\|_X^2 + \frac{\alpha}{2}\|v\|_H^2 + \frac{1}{2\alpha}\|g\|_H^2 - \delta\nu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) \, dx - \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) \, dx$$

which implies that

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[\|w\|_X^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) \, dx \right] \le 2 \left(\alpha - C(\delta) \right) \|w\|_X^2 - 2\delta \nu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) \, dx + \frac{1}{\alpha} \|g\|_H^2$$

Now we can choose α small enough so that $\alpha - C(\delta) < 0$ and taking

 $\mu = \min \left\{ -2(\alpha - C(\delta)) \ , \ \delta \nu \right\} > 0$ we have

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[\|w\|_X^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) \, dx \right] \le -\mu \left[\|w\|_X^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) \, dx \right] + \frac{1}{\alpha} \|g\|_H^2 \tag{2.12}$$

and then by Uniform Gronwall inequality we get

$$||w||_X^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u) \, dx \le e^{-\mu t} \left(||w_0||_X^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u_0) \, dx \right) + (1 - e^{-\mu t}) \frac{1}{\mu \alpha} ||g||_H^2$$

which yields

$$||w||_X^2 \le e^{-\mu t} \left(||w_0||_X^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u_0) \, dx \right) + \frac{1}{\mu \alpha} ||g||_H^2. \tag{2.13}$$

Now by (2.5) we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(u_0) \, dx \le \frac{1}{\nu} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(u_0) u_0 \, dx \le \frac{C}{\nu} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_0^2(x) \, dx.$$

Then we deduce from (2.13) that for every $w_0 \in D(G)$,

$$||w||_X^2 \le e^{-\mu t} \left(||w_0||_X^2 + \frac{C}{\nu} ||u_0||_H^2 \right) + \frac{1}{\mu \alpha} ||g||_H^2.$$
 (2.14)

And by density of D(G) in X and the continuity of the solution of (2.8) in $X \times (0, T(w_0))$ we see that (2.13) holds for every $w_0 \in X$.

Now let R > 0 and $||w_0||_X \le R$, then $||u_0||_H \le R$ and

$$||w||_X^2 \le e^{-\mu t} \left(R^2 + \frac{CR^2}{\nu} \right) + \frac{1}{\mu \alpha} ||g||_H^2$$
 (2.15)

which yields

$$||w||_X^2 \le \frac{2}{\mu\alpha}||g||_H^2$$
, for $t \ge T_1 = \frac{1}{\mu} \ln \left\{ \frac{\mu\lambda(R^2 + \frac{CR^2}{\nu})}{||g||_H^2} \right\}$ (2.16)

and (2.11) follows with $M = \frac{2}{\mu\alpha} \|g\|_H^2$ and the proof is complete.

By (2.15), We have also the following result.

Lemma 2.1.4 Let $g \in H$. Then for any given T > 0, every solution w of (2.8) satisfies

$$||w||_X \le L, \qquad 0 \le t \le T \tag{2.17}$$

where L depends on $(\lambda, \delta, \|g\|_H)$, T and $\|w_0\|_X$.

Lemma 2.1.3 implies that the solution w(t) exists globally, that is $T(w_0) = +\infty$, which implies that the system (2.8) generates a continuous semiflow $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ on X. Denote by O the ball

$$O = \{ w \in X : ||w||_X \le M \}$$
 (2.18)

where M is the constant in (2.11). Then it follows from (2.11) that O is an absorbing set for S(t) in X and that for every bounded set B in X there exists a constant T(B) depending only on (λ, g) and B such that

$$S(t)B \subseteq O, \quad t \ge T(B). \tag{2.19}$$

In particular there exists a constant T_0 depending only on (λ, g) and O such that

$$S(t)O \subseteq O, \quad t \ge T_0. \tag{2.20}$$

2.1.2 Global Attractor

The existence of an absorbing set is the first step toward the existence of a global attractor. We need now to prove the asymptotic compactness of S(t). The key idea lies in establishing uniform estimates on "Tail Ends" of solutions, that is, the norm of the solutions w(t) are uniformly small with respect to t outside a sufficiently large ball.

Lemma 2.1.5 If (2.5) and (2.6) hold, $g \in H$ and $w_0 = (u_0, v_0) \in O$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists positive constants $T(\varepsilon)$ and $K(\varepsilon)$ such that the solution w(t) = (u(t), v(t)) of problem (2.8) satisfies

$$\int_{|x| \ge k} \left\{ |u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 \right\} dx \le \varepsilon, \qquad t \ge T(\varepsilon), \quad k \ge K(\varepsilon). \tag{2.21}$$

Proof: Choose a smooth function θ such that $0 \le \theta(s) \le 1$ for $s \in \mathbb{R}^+$, and

$$\theta(s) = 0$$
 for $0 \le s \le 1$; $\theta(s) = 1$ for $s \ge 2$.

Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that $|\theta'(s)| \leq C$ for $s \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

Let w(t) = (u(t), v(t)) be the solution of problem (2.8) with initial condition $w_0 = (u_0, v_0) \in O$ then $v(t) = \delta u + u_t$ satisfies the equation

$$v_t - \Delta u + (\lambda - \delta)v + (\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1)u = -f(u) + g$$
(2.22)

taking inner product of (2.22) with $\theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})v$ in H we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) v v_{t} dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \Delta u \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) v dx + (\lambda - \delta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) |v|^{2} dx
+ (\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) u v dx = - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} f(u) \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) v dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) g v dx$$
(2.23)

But

$$-\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \Delta u \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) v \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) \nabla u \cdot \nabla v + \frac{2}{k^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta'(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) v x \cdot \nabla u$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) \left[\delta |\nabla u|^{2} + \nabla u \cdot \nabla u_{t} \right] + \frac{2}{k^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta'(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) v x \cdot \nabla u$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) |\nabla u|^{2} + \delta \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) |\nabla u|^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{2}{k^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta'(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) v x \cdot \nabla u,$$

and

$$(\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) uv \, dx = (\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) (\delta |u|^{2} + uu_{t})$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) |u|^{2} + \delta(\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) |u|^{2}.$$

Then (2.23) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1)|u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 \right]
+ \delta \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1)|u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 \right] + (\lambda - 2\delta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})|v|^2
= - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) f(u)(\delta u + u_t) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) gv \, dx - \frac{2}{k^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta'(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) vx \cdot \nabla u, \tag{2.24}$$

and since

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) f(u)(\delta u + u_t) \ge \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) F(u) + \delta \nu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) F(u),$$

we deduce that

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) \left[(\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1)|u|^{2} + |\nabla u|^{2} + |v|^{2} + 2F(u) \right]
+ \delta \alpha \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) \left[(\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1)|u|^{2} + |\nabla u|^{2} + |v|^{2} + 2F(u) \right]
\leq -(\lambda - 2\delta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}})|v|^{2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}})gv \, dx - \frac{2}{k^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta'(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}})vx \cdot \nabla u, \tag{2.25}$$

where $\alpha = \min\{1, \nu\}$. Now, there exists a constant $K(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that for $k \geq K$, we have

$$-(\lambda - 2\delta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})|v|^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})gv \, dx - \frac{2}{k^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta'(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})vx \cdot \nabla u \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2},$$

which implies by Uniform Gronwall inequality that

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) \left[(\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1)|u|^{2} + |\nabla u|^{2} + |v|^{2} + 2F(u) \right] \\ & \leq e^{-\delta \alpha t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) \left[(\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1)|u_{0}|^{2} + |\nabla u_{0}|^{2} + |v_{0}|^{2} + 2F(u_{0}) \right] + \varepsilon \frac{1 - e^{-\delta \alpha}}{2\delta \alpha}. \end{split}$$

Now since $w_0 \in O$, there exist a constant M > 0, uniformly chosen for $w_0 \in O$, such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1)|u_0|^2 + |\nabla u_0|^2 + |v_0|^2 + 2F(u_0) \right] \le M.$$

Then we get for $k \geq K(\varepsilon)$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1) |u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 + 2F(u) \right] \leq M e^{-\delta \alpha t} + \varepsilon \frac{1 - e^{-\delta \alpha}}{2\delta \alpha}.$$

Choosing $T(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{\delta} \ln \left(\frac{2M\delta\alpha}{2\varepsilon\delta\alpha - \varepsilon} \right)$, we deduce that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1) |u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 \right] \le \varepsilon \quad \text{for } t \ge T(\varepsilon), \ k \ge K(\varepsilon)$$

which yields (2.21) since $0 < \delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1 < 1$ for the particular choice of δ , and the proof is complete.

By multiplying equation (2.22) with v and integrating we deduce the following energy equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(w(t)) + 2\delta E(w(t)) = G(w(t)) \qquad \forall t > 0, \tag{2.26}$$

where E(w) is the quasi-energy functional,

$$E(w) = (\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1) \|u\|_H^2 + \|\nabla u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \|v\|_H^2, \tag{2.27}$$

and

$$G(w) = -2(\lambda - 2\delta) \|v\|_H^2 + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} gv \, dx - 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(u)v \, dx.$$
 (2.28)

This energy functional E will be used later as an equivalent norm, more suitable in proving the asymptotical compactness.

The following lemma will be also useful in proving the asymptotical compactness.

Lemma 2.1.6 Let $w_n = (u_n, v_n) \longrightarrow w_0 = (u_0, v_0)$ weakly in X, then for every T > 0 we have

$$S(t)w_n \longrightarrow S(t)w_0$$
 weakly in $L^2(0,T;X)$ (2.29)

and

$$S(t)w_n \longrightarrow S(t)w_0$$
 weakly in X , for $0 \le t \le T$. (2.30)

Proof: Since $\{w_n\}_n$ converges weakly in X, then it is bounded in X so that, by lemma 2.1.4 $\{S(t)w_n\}_n$ is bounded in $L^{\infty}(0,T;X)$. This, with (2.8), implies that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}S(t)v_n$$
 is bounded in $L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ (2.31)

and

$$S(t)v_n$$
 is bounded in $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$. (2.32)

We infer that there exists a subsequence $\{w_{n_j}\}_j$ and $w_{\infty} = (u_{\infty}, v_{\infty}) \in L^{\infty}(0, T; X)$ such that

$$S(t)w_{n_i} \longrightarrow w_{\infty}$$
 weakly in $L^2(0,T;X)$, (2.33)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}S(t)v_{n_j} \longrightarrow \frac{\partial}{\partial t}v_{\infty}$$
 weakly in $L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ (2.34)

and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}S(t)u_{n_j} \longrightarrow \frac{\partial}{\partial t}u_{\infty}$$
 weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$. (2.35)

We can show that w_{∞} is a solution of (2.8) with $w_{\infty}(0) = w_0$. Indeed, we have by the mild solution formula,

$$S(t)w_{n_j} = e^{-Gt}w_{n_j} + \int_0^t e^{-G(t-s)}R(S(s)w_{n_j}) ds.$$
 (2.36)

And, since $w_{n_j} \to w_0$ weakly in X, we deduce from (2.33) that

$$e^{-Gt}w_{n_j} + \int_0^t e^{-G(t-s)}R(S(s)w_{n_j}) ds \longrightarrow e^{-Gt}w_0 + \int_0^t e^{-G(t-s)}R(w_{\infty}(s)) ds,$$
 (2.37)

weakly in X, which implies, by the uniqueness of weak limit that

$$w_{\infty}(t) = e^{-Gt}w_0 + \int_0^t e^{-G(t-s)}R(w_{\infty}(s)) ds.$$
 (2.38)

That is w_{∞} is a solution of (2.8) and by the uniqueness of solutions we have $w_{\infty}(t) = S(t)w_0$. This shows that any subsequence of $S(t)w_n$ has a weakly convergent subsequence in $L^2(0,T;X)$, therefore we conclude (2.29). A similar argument yields (2.30).

Similar to (2.29) we also have that if $w_n \longrightarrow w$ weakly in X, then for $0 \le s \le T$,

$$S(t)w_n \longrightarrow S(t)w_0$$
 weakly in $L^2(s,T;X)$ (2.39)

We state here another useful lemma.

Lemma 2.1.7 Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N . Suppose $u_n \longrightarrow u$ in $L^2(\Omega)$ and $v_n \longrightarrow v$ weakly in $L^2(\Omega)$, then $\int_{\Omega} f(u_n)v_n dx \longrightarrow \int_{\Omega} f(u)v dx$ in \mathbb{R} (up to a subsequence extraction).

Proof: By (2.6) we can show, up to a subsequence, that $f(u_n) \longrightarrow f(u)$ in $L^2(\Omega)$. Now define the linear functionals I_n and I on $L^2(\Omega)$ by

$$I_n(v) = \int_{\Omega} f(u_n)v \, dx, \quad I(v) = \int_{\Omega} f(u)v \, dx.$$

Then $I_n \longrightarrow I$ in $L^2(\Omega)^*$ (the dual space of $L^2(\Omega)$. Indeed

$$|I_n(v) - I(v)| \le \int_{\Omega} |f(u_n) - f(u)||v| dx$$

$$\leq \|f(u_n) - f(u)\|_{L^2} \|v\|_{L^2}.$$

which implies that

$$||I_n - I||_{L^2} \le ||f(u_n) - f(u)||_{L^2} \longrightarrow 0$$
 as $n \longrightarrow \infty$.

So $I_n \to I$ in $L^2(\Omega)^*$ and $v_n \to v$ weakly in $L^2(\Omega)$, then it follows, by a classical result in functional analysis that $I_n(v_n) \longrightarrow I(v)$, which proves the lemma.

We are now ready to prove the asymptotic compactness of the semiflow S(t).

Theorem 2.1.1 The semiflow S(t) generated by the system (2.8) is asymptotically compact in X, that is if $\{w_n\}_n$ is a bounded sequence in X and $t_n \longrightarrow +\infty$, then $\{S(t)w_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ is precompact in X.

Proof: Let w_n be a bounded sequence in X with $||w_n||_X \leq R$ and $t_n \longrightarrow +\infty$ then by (2.19) there exists a constant T(R) > 0 depending only on R > 0 such that

$$S(t)w_n \in O, \quad \forall n \ge 1, \quad \forall t \ge T(R).$$
 (2.40)

Since $t_n \longrightarrow +\infty$, there exists $N_1(R)$ such that $n \ge N_1$ implies $t_n \ge T(R)$ so that

$$S(t_n)w_n \in O, \qquad \forall n \ge N_1(R).$$
 (2.41)

Then there exists $w \in X$ such that, up to a subsequence

$$S(t_n)w_n \longrightarrow w$$
 weakly in X . (2.42)

Now for every T > 0 there exists $N_2(R, T)$ such that for $n \ge N_2(R, T)$ we have $t_n - T \ge T(R)$ so that

$$S(t_n - T)w_n \in O \qquad \forall n \ge N_2(R, T). \tag{2.43}$$

Thus there is a $w_T \in O$ such that

$$S(t_n - T)w_n \longrightarrow w_T$$
 weakly in X , (2.44)

and by the weak continuity (2.30) we must have $w = S(T)w_T$ which implies that

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \|S(t_n)w_n\|_X \ge \|w\|_X. \tag{2.45}$$

So we only need to prove that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|S(t_n)w_n\|_X \le \|w\|_X. \tag{2.46}$$

By the energy equation (2.26), it follows that any solution w(t) = S(t)w of (2.8) satisfies

$$E(S(t)w) = e^{-2\delta(t-s)}E(S(s)w) + \int_{s}^{t} e^{-2\delta(t-r)}G(S(r)w) dr, \quad t \ge s \ge 0.$$
 (2.47)

where E and G are given by (2.27) and (2.28), respectively.

In the following, T_0 is the constant in (2.20), and for $\varepsilon > 0$, $T(\varepsilon)$ is the constant in (2.21). Let $T_0(\varepsilon)$ be a fixed constant such that $T_0(\varepsilon) \ge \max\{T(\varepsilon), T_0\}$. Taking $T \ge T_0(\varepsilon)$, and applying (2.47) to the solution $S(t)(S(t_n - T)w_n)$ with $s = T_0$ and t = T, then we get, for $n \ge N_2(R, T)$,

$$E(S(t_n)w_n) = E(S(T)(S(t_n - T)w_n))$$

$$= e^{-2\delta(T-T_0)}E(S(T_0)(S(t_n - T)w_n))$$

$$+ \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)}G(S(r)(S(t_n - T)w_n)) dr.$$
(2.48)

Since $T_0 \ge T_0$ we have $S(T_0)(S(t_n - T)w_n) \in O$ for $n \ge N_2(R, T)$, therefore by the definition of E we find that

$$e^{-2\delta(T-T_0)}E(S(T_0)(S(t_n-T)w_n)) \le Ce^{-2\delta(T-T_0)}, \quad \forall n \ge N_2(R,T).$$
 (2.49)

On the other hand, we have

$$\int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} G(S(r)(S(t_n-T)w_n)) dr$$

$$= -2(\lambda - \delta) \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} ||S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n||^2 dr$$

$$+2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} gS(r)S(t_n - T)v_n dxdr$$

$$-2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n)S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n dxdr \qquad (2.50)$$

Let's handle the first and last term of (2.50). Since we have,

$$e^{-2\delta(T-r)}S(r)S(t_n-T)v_n \longrightarrow e^{-2\delta(T-r)}S(r)v$$
 weakly in $L^2(T_0,T;H)$,

it follows that:

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \|e^{-2\delta(T-r)}S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n\|_{L^2(T_0, T; H)} \ge \|e^{-2\delta(T-r)}S(r)v\|_{L^2(T_0, T; H)},$$

which implies that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} -2(\lambda - \delta) \|e^{-2\delta(T-r)} S(r) S(t_n - T) v_n\|_{L^2(T_0, T; H)}$$

$$\leq -2(\lambda - \delta) \|e^{-2\delta(T-r)} S(r) v\|_{L^2(T_0, T; H)}.$$
(2.51)

Also by (2.44) and (2.39) we have

$$\int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} gS(r)S(t_n - T)v_n \, dxdr \longrightarrow \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} gS(r)v_T \, dxdr \qquad (2.52)$$

Now let's handle the nonlinear term of (2.50). We have

$$-2\int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n)S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n \, dxdr$$

$$= -2\int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{|x| \ge k} f(S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n)S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n \, dxdr$$

$$-2\int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{|x| < k} f(S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n)S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n \, dxdr. \tag{2.53}$$

Handling the first term on the right-hand side of (2.53) gives

$$\left| 2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{|x| \ge k} f(S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n) S(r) S(t_n - T)v_n \, dx dr \right|
\le C \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{|x| \ge k} |S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n| |S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n|
\le C \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \left(\int_{|x| \ge k} |S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{|x| \ge k} |S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}
\le \varepsilon^2 C \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \, dr \le \frac{\varepsilon^2 C}{2\delta}, \qquad n \ge N_2(R, T). \tag{2.54}$$

We treat now the second term on the right-hand side of (2.53). We want to prove that as $n \to +\infty$,

$$\int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{|x| \le k} f(S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n)S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n dxdr$$

$$\longrightarrow \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{|x| \le k} f(S(r)u_T)S(r)v_T dxdr$$
(2.55)

Set $\Omega_k = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N \, : \, |x| \le k\}$ and let $r \in [T_0, T]$. Then we have

$$S(r)S(t_n - T)w_n \longrightarrow S(r)w_T$$
, weakly in X.

By the compactness of the Sobolev embedding $H^1(\Omega_k) \subset L^2(\Omega_k)$, we infer that

$$S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n \longrightarrow S(r)u_T$$
, strongly in $L^2(\Omega_k)$ (2.56)

and

$$S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n \longrightarrow S(r)v_T$$
, weakly in $L^2(\Omega_k)$ (2.57)

then (2.55) follows from lemma 2.1.7.

By (2.53), (2.54) and (2.55) we find that for $k \geq K(\varepsilon)$,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} -2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n)S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n \, dx dr$$

$$\leq \varepsilon C - 2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{|x| \le k} f(S(r)u_T)S(r)v_T \, dx dr.$$

Letting $k \longrightarrow \infty$ we obtain

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} -2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(S(r)S(t_n - T)u_n)S(r)S(t_n - T)v_n \, dx dr$$

$$\leq \varepsilon C - 2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(S(r)u_T)S(r)v_T \, dx dr. \tag{2.58}$$

By (2.50), (2.51), (2.52) and (2.58), we finally obtain

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} G(S(r)(S(t_n - T)w_n)) dr$$

$$\leq -2(\lambda - \delta) \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} ||S(r)v_T||^2 dr$$

$$+2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} gS(r)v_T dx dr$$

$$-2 \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(S(r)u_T)S(r)v_T dx dr + \varepsilon C,$$

that is

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} G(S(r)(S(t_n - T)w_n)) dr$$

$$\leq \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} G(S(r)w_T) dr + \varepsilon C. \tag{2.59}$$

Taking limit of (2.48), (2.49) and (2.59) we get, as $n \to \infty$,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} E(S(t_n)w_n) \le Ce^{-2\delta(T-T_0)} + \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)} G(S(r)w_T) dr + \varepsilon C.$$
 (2.60)

On the other hand, since $w = S(T)w_T$, by (2.47) we also have that

$$E(w) = E(S(T)w_T) = e^{-2\delta(T-T_0)}E(S(T_0)w_T) + \int_{T_0}^T e^{-2\delta(T-r)}G(S(r)w_T) dr.$$
 (2.61)

Hence it follows from (2.60)-(2.61) that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} E(S(t_n)w_n) \le E(w) + Ce^{-2\delta(T-T_0)} + \varepsilon C - e^{-2\delta(T-T_0)}E(S(T_0)w_T). \tag{2.62}$$

Now since $w_T \in O$ and $T_0 \geq T(O)$ we find that

$$|e^{-2\delta(T-T_0)}E(S(T_0)w_T)| \le Ce^{-2\delta(T-T_0)}.$$

Then from (2.62) we have

$$\lim \sup_{n \to \infty} E(S(t_n)w_n) \le E(w) + Ce^{-2\delta(T - T_0)} + \varepsilon C. \tag{2.63}$$

Now taking limit of (2.63) as $T \to \infty$ and then letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, we obtain

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} E(S(t_n)w_n) \le E(w),$$

that is

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} (\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \|S(t_{n})u_{n}\|_{H}^{2} + \|\nabla S(t_{n})u_{n}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \|S(t_{n})v_{n}\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$\leq (\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \|u\|_{H}^{2} + \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \|v\|_{H}^{2}.$$
(2.64)

Noting that $E(w) = (\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1) \|u\|_H^2 + \|\nabla u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \|v\|_H^2$ is equivalent to the norm of X, we can assume without loss of generality that the norm of X is defined by it. Then we have

$$\limsup_{n\to\infty} \|S(t_n)w_n\|_X \le \|w\|_X$$

as desired in (2.46). Therefore we get the strong convergence of $S(t_n)w_n$ to w in X. The proof is complete.

Now we state our main result obtained in this section.

Theorem 2.1.2 Assume that f satisfies (2.5), (2.6) and $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Then, problem (2.8) possesses a global attractor in $X = H^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ which is a compact invariant subset that attracts every bounded set of X with respect to the norm topology.

Proof: Since we have established the existence of an absorbing set in (2.18) and the asymptotic compactness of the semiflow S(t) in X in Theorem 2.1.1, the conclusion follows from Theorem 1.1.1.

2.2 The Wave Equation Without Mass Term

In this section we will study the existence of global attractor for the wave equation without mass term,

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - \Delta u + f(u) = 0, & x \in \Omega, \quad t > 0, \\ u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, & (2.65) \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), \quad u_t(0, x) = u_1(x) \end{cases}$$

where Ω is a domain of \mathbb{R}^N bounded only in one direction, with smooth boundary. The case $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^N$, for this equation is still an open problem due to some difficulties in getting an inequality such as (2.9) for the operator G in H^1 norm. In our case we will use an equivalent norm (provided by the Poincaré inequality) for which the desired estimate works. We assume the same condtions (2.5) and (2.6) for the nonlinear function f.

We will work in the phase space $X = V \times H$ where $V = H_0^1(\Omega)$, $H = L^2(\Omega)$. H is endowed with the norm and inner product for L^2 and V is endowed with the inner product and norm defined as follows,

$$(u, v)_V = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, dx, \quad u, v \in V \quad \text{ and } ||u||_V = ||\nabla u||_{H^n}, \ u \in V.$$
 (2.66)

Now define the following bilinear operator in V:

$$(u,v)_1 = \int_{\Omega} uv \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, dx, \quad u,v \in V, \tag{2.67}$$

which is also an inner product in V with induced norm $||u||_1 = \left[||u||_H^2 + ||\nabla u||_{H^n}^2\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$. By the Poincaré inequality $||\cdot||_V$ and $||\cdot||_1$ are equivalent norms in V. That is, there are positive

constants C_1 and C_2 such that

$$C_1 \|u\|_V \le \|u\|_1 \le C_2 \|u\|_V, \quad \forall u \in V.$$
 (2.68)

Let's make a transformation to write the equation (2.65) as a first order abstract ODE.

Choose $\delta = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda^2 + 4}$ and set $v = \delta u + u_t$, $w = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix}$. Then, problem (2.65) is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} w_t + Gw = R(w), & t > 0, \quad w \in X \\ w(0) = w_0 = (u_0, u_1 + \delta u_0) \end{cases}$$
 (2.69)

where

$$R(w) = \left(\begin{array}{c} 0\\ -f(u) \end{array}\right)$$

and

$$Gw = \begin{pmatrix} \delta u - v \\ -\Delta u + (\lambda - \delta)v + (\delta^2 - \delta\lambda)u \end{pmatrix}$$

for
$$w = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in D(G) = (H^2(\Omega) \cap H^1_0(\Omega)) \times H^1(\Omega).$$

As in Lemma 2.1.1 we show the positivity of the operator G with a similar estimate.

Lemma 2.2.1 For $\delta = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda^2 + 4}$, the operator G is maximal accretive in X and verifies the following

$$(G(w), w)_X \ge \sigma \|w\|_X^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \|v\|_H^2, \qquad \forall \ w = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in X,$$
 (2.70)

where

$$\sigma = \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{\lambda^2 + 4(\lambda + \sqrt{\lambda^2 + 4})}}. (2.71)$$

Proof: Let
$$w = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in X$$
 then we have:

$$(G(w), w)_{X} = (\delta u - v, u)_{V} + (-\Delta u + (\lambda - \delta)(v - \delta u), v)_{H}$$

$$= \delta \|u\|_{V}^{2} - (\nabla u, \nabla v)_{H^{n}} + (-\Delta u, v)_{H} + (\lambda - \delta)\|v\|_{H}^{2}$$

$$-\delta(\lambda - \delta)(u, v)_{H}$$

$$= \delta \|u\|_{V}^{2} + (\lambda - \delta)\|v\|_{H}^{2} - \delta(\lambda - \delta)(u, v)_{H}$$

$$\geq \delta \|u\|_{V}^{2} + (\lambda - \delta)\|v\|_{H}^{2} - \delta\lambda\|u\|_{H}\|v\|_{H}.$$

Then setting
$$\sigma = \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{\lambda^2 + 4}(\lambda + \sqrt{\lambda^2 + 4})}$$
 as in (2.10), we have

$$(G(w), w)_{X} - \sigma(\|u\|_{V}^{2} + \|v\|_{H}^{2}) - \frac{\lambda}{2}\|v\|_{H}^{2} \geq (\delta - \sigma)\|u\|_{V}^{2} + (\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma)\|v\|_{H}^{2}$$
$$-\delta\lambda\|u\|_{V}\|v\|_{H}$$
$$\geq 2\sqrt{(\delta - \sigma)(\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma)}\|u\|_{V}\|v\|_{H}$$
$$-\delta\lambda\|u\|_{V}\|v\|_{H}$$

we can check that $4(\delta - \sigma)(\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma) = \lambda^2 \delta^2$ so that

$$(G(w), w)_X - \sigma ||w||_X^2 - \frac{\lambda}{2} ||v||_H^2 \ge 0.$$

The proof is complete.

The existence of solution for (2.69) follows in the same approach as for equation (2.8). Similarly, we can prove an analogous result as in lemma 2.1.3 and we have shown that there

also exists a bounded absorbing set O in X.

Now let's establish the tail ends estimates for equation (2.69).

Lemma 2.2.2 If (2.5), (2.6) hold, $g \in H$ and $w_0 = (u_0, v_0) \in O$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $T(\varepsilon)$ and $K(\varepsilon)$ such that the solution w(t) = (u(t), v(t)) of problem (2.69) satisfies

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \{|x| \ge k\}} \left[|u(t)|^2 + |\nabla u(t)|^2 + |v(t)|^2 \right] dx \le \varepsilon, \qquad t \ge T(\varepsilon), \quad k \ge K(\varepsilon). \tag{2.72}$$

Proof:

The proof works basically like that for equation (2.8). Any solution $w(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ v(t) \end{pmatrix}$ satisfies:

$$v_t - \Delta u + (\lambda - \delta)v + (\delta^2 - \lambda \delta)u = -f(u) + g \tag{2.73}$$

and

$$u_t + \delta u = v. (2.74)$$

We choose the same cut-off function θ .

Now take inner product in H of $\theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})v(x)$ with (2.73) to get

$$\int_{\Omega} \theta\left(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}\right) v v_t \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \Delta u \theta\left(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}\right) v \, dx + (\lambda - \delta) \int_{\Omega} \theta\left(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}\right) |v|^2 \, dx
+ (\delta^2 - \lambda \delta) \int_{\Omega} \theta\left(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}\right) u v \, dx = -\int_{\Omega} f(u) \theta\left(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}\right) v \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \theta\left(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}\right) g v \, dx.$$
(2.75)

But

$$-\int_{\Omega} \Delta u \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) v \, dx = \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \nabla u \cdot \nabla v + \frac{2}{k^2} \int_{\Omega} \theta'(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) v x \cdot \nabla u$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[\delta |\nabla u|^2 + \nabla u \cdot \nabla u_t \right] + \frac{2}{k^2} \int_{\Omega} \theta'(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) v x \cdot \nabla u$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) |\nabla u|^2 + \delta \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) |\nabla u|^2$$

$$+ \frac{2}{k^2} \int_{\Omega} \theta'(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) v x \cdot \nabla u,$$

and

$$(\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta) \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) uv \, dx = (\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) (\delta |u|^{2} + uu_{t})$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) |u|^{2} + \delta(\delta^{2} - \lambda \delta + 1) \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^{2}}{k^{2}}) |u|^{2}.$$

Then (2.73) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta) |u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 \right]
+ \delta \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta) |u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 \right] + (\lambda - 2\delta) \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) |v|^2
= - \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) f(u) (\delta u + u_t) + \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) gv \, dx - \frac{2}{k^2} \int_{\Omega} \theta'(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) vx \cdot \nabla u.$$
(2.76)

But $\delta^2 - \lambda \delta$ could be negative for certain values of λ . Since $\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1 > 0$, let's introduce another equation to get a more desirable identity.

Taking inner product of $\theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})u(x)$ with (2.74), we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\Omega}\theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})|u|^2\,dx + \int_{\Omega}\theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})|u|^2\,dx = \int_{\Omega}\theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})uv\,dx.$$

And adding the above and (2.76) yields

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1)|u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 \right]
+ \delta \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) \left[(\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1)|u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |v|^2 \right] + (\lambda - 3\delta) \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})|v|^2
= -\int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) f(u)(\delta u + u_t) + \int_{\Omega} \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) gv \, dx - \frac{2}{k^2} \int_{\Omega} \theta'(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2}) vx \cdot \nabla u.$$
(2.77)

Then the conclusion follows the same way as in the proof of lemma 2.1.5.

Similarly, we have the following energy equation for the solution of (2.69),

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(w(t)) + 2\delta E(w(t)) = G(w(t)) \qquad \forall t > 0, \tag{2.78}$$

where

$$E(w) = (\delta^2 - \lambda \delta + 1) \|u\|_H^2 + \|\nabla u\|_{H^N}^2 + \|v\|_H^2, \tag{2.79}$$

and

$$G(w) = -2(\lambda - 3\delta) \|v\|_H^2 + 2 \int_{\Omega} gv \, dx - 2 \int_{\Omega} f(u)v \, dx.$$
 (2.80)

The rest of the proof of existence of a global attractor is again similar to the case with mass term. We get the main result in this section

Theorem 2.2.1 Let Ω be a domain of R^N bounded in only one direction. Assume that f satisfies (2.5), (2.6) and $g \in L^2(\Omega)$. Then, problem (2.69) possesses a global attractor in $X = H_0^1(\Omega) \times L^2(\Omega)$ which is a compact invariant subset that attracts every bounded set of X with respect to the norm topology.

3 DYNAMICS OF SECOND ORDER LATTICE SYSTEMS

In this chapter we take on the longtime dynamics of a second order lattice differential equation (LDE). Broadly speaking an LDE is an infinite system of ordinary differential equations with a discrete structure in the phase space. They often come from a spatial dicretization of an evolutionary PDE. However, many LDE's occur as models in their own right and are not approximations to the continuum limit. Lattice systems occur in many applications such as electric circuit theory, neural networks, material science, theory of chemical reactions, image processing, and biology. The mathematical study of LDE's is quite recent: the literature goes back to about 1987, with the full mathematical development starting in 1990's.

We consider in this chapter the following lattice system

$$\ddot{u_i} + \lambda \dot{u_i} - (u_{i-1} - 2u_i + u_{i+1}) + f(u_i) = q_i, \qquad i \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(3.1)

where \dot{u} and \ddot{u} represent respectively the first and second derivatives of u with respect to time t, f is a nonlinear function satisfying some growth conditions and $g = (g_i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^2$.

Equation (3.1) can be viewed as a spatial discretization of the one-dimensional damped nonlinear wave equation,

$$u_{tt} + \lambda u_t - u_{xx} + f(u) = g, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}. \tag{3.2}$$

In this chapter we will show the existence of global attractor for the semiflow generated by (3.1). Here again the key lies in a variant of the "tail end estimates" used in the previous chapter for the nonlinear wave equation.

3.1 The Existence and Boundedness of Solutions

In this section we prove the existence and uniqueness of solutions of the following second order lattice system, for all time $t \geq 0$. We also show the uniform boundedness of solutions.

Consider the system

$$\ddot{u_i} + \lambda \dot{u_i} - (u_{i-1} - 2u_i + u_{i+1}) + f(u_i) = q_i, \qquad i \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(3.3)

with initial conditions

$$u_i(0) = u_{i,0}, \qquad \dot{u}_i(0) = u_{i,1}, \qquad i \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (3.4)

Here $\lambda > 0$ is a constant and $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ satisfies f(0) = 0 and the following condition:

$$f(s)s \ge \nu F(s) \ge 0, \qquad \forall s \in \mathbb{R}$$
 (3.5)

where ν is a positive constant and $F(s) = \int_0^s f(t) dt$. We remark that condition (3.5) is satisfied if f is a nondecreasing function satisfying $f(s)s \geq o$; for instance, if f is a polynomial with positive coefficients and odd degree monomials.

We will consider the space $\ell^2 = \{u = (u_i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \mid \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} u_i^2 < \infty\}$ which is a Hilbert space with the usual inner product $(u, v) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} u_i v_i$ and norm $||u|| = (\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} u_i^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

Introduce two linear operators B, \bar{B} and A from ℓ^2 to ℓ^2 as follows. For $u=(u_i)_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\in\ell^2$, define

$$(Bu)_i = u_{i+1} - u_i$$
, $(\bar{B}u)_i = u_{i-1} - u_i$, and $(Au)_i = -(u_{i-1} - 2u_i + u_{i+1})$. (3.6)

Then we see that

$$A = \bar{B}B = B\bar{B} = -(B + \bar{B}) \tag{3.7}$$

$$(Bu, v) = (u, \bar{B}v), \text{ and } (Au, v) = (Bu, Bv), \forall u, v \in \ell^2.$$
 (3.8)

The bilinear form $(u, v)_1 = (Bu, Bv)$ defines also an inner product in ℓ^2 with induced norm $||u||_1 = ||Bu||$. We let

$$H = (\ell^2, (\cdot, \cdot), \|\cdot\|), \qquad V = (\ell^2, (\cdot, \cdot)_1, \|\cdot\|_1)$$
 which are Hilbert spaces.

The norms $\|\cdot\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_1$ are equivalent norms in ℓ^2 . In fact we have

$$||u||^{2} \le ||u||_{1}^{2} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |u_{i+1} - u_{i}|^{2} \le 4||u||^{2} \qquad \forall u \in \ell^{2}.$$
(3.9)

3.1.1 The Existence and Uniqueness of Solutions

In the remaining analysis our phase space will be $X = V \times H$ equipped with the product topology, which makes X a Hilbert space. The inner product and norm in X are as follows:

for
$$\varphi^j = \begin{pmatrix} u^j \\ v^j \end{pmatrix} \in X \quad j = 1, 2$$
 we have

$$(\varphi^1, \varphi^2)_X = (u^1, u^2)_1 + (v^1, v^2),$$

$$\|\varphi\|_X^2 = (\varphi, , \varphi)_X \qquad \forall \ \varphi = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in X.$$

Let $v = \delta u + \dot{u}$, where $\delta > 0$ is a positive parameter chosen as

$$\delta = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda^2 + 4}.\tag{3.10}$$

Then the initial value problem (3.3), (3.4) can be reformulated as a first order abstract ODE in X as follows

$$\dot{\varphi} + G(\varphi) = R(\varphi), \qquad \varphi(0) = \begin{pmatrix} u^0 \\ v^0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (3.11)

where G and R are defined on X as follows:

$$G(\varphi) = \begin{pmatrix} \delta u - v \\ Au + (\lambda - \delta)(v - \delta u) \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad R(\varphi) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -f(u) + g \end{pmatrix}.$$

We make the abusive notations $f(u) = (f(u_i))_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}, \quad F(u) = (F(u_i))_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}.$

Now let $u \in \ell^2$ then since f(0) = 0 we have

$$||f(u)||^2 = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |f'(\theta_i u_i)| |u_i|^2,$$

where $\theta_i \in (0,1)$. By $|\theta_i u_i| \leq |u_i| \leq ||u||$, we get

$$||f(u)|| \le ||u|| \max_{-||u|| \le s \le ||u||} f'(s). \tag{3.12}$$

It follows from (3.12) that $f(u) \in \ell^2$. Thus R maps X into itself. Next we prove the existence and uniqueness of the solution of (3.11) as stated in the next lemma.

Lemma 3.1.1 For every initial data $\varphi(0) = \begin{pmatrix} u^0 \\ v^0 \end{pmatrix} \in X$, there is a unique local solution

$$\varphi(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ v(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
 of (3.11) such that $\varphi \in C^1[-T(\varphi_0), T(\varphi_0)]$ for some $T(\varphi_0) > 0$.

Proof: We just need to prove that $\varphi \mapsto R(\varphi) - G(\varphi)$ is locally Lispchitz from X into itself. Let B be a bounded subset of X and $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in B$, then similar to (3.12), there exists a constant L(B) depending on B such that

$$||R(\varphi_1) - R(\varphi_2)||_X^2 = ||f(u^1) - f(u^2)||^2$$

$$= \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |f'(u_i^1 + \theta_i(u_i^2 - u_i^1))|^2 |u_i^1 - u_i^2|^2$$

$$\leq L(B)||\varphi_1 - \varphi_2||_X^2.$$

Therefore R is locally Lipschitz. On the other hand, it is easy to see that G is a bounded linear operator so that $R(\varphi) - G(\varphi)$ is locally Lipschitz from X to X. The conclusion of the lemma follows from the standard theory of abstract ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces.

3.1.2 The Boundedness of Solutions

We start with presenting a positivity estimate for the linear operator G, which is crucial toward proving the existence of absorbing set. In fact it is a key estimate used in this work.

Lemma 3.1.2 The operator G verifies:

$$(G(\varphi), \varphi)_X \ge \sigma \|\varphi\|_X^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \|v\|^2, \qquad \forall \varphi = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in X,$$
 (3.13)

where

$$\sigma = \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{\lambda^2 + 4}(\lambda + \sqrt{\lambda^2 + 4})} \tag{3.14}$$

Proof: Let
$$\varphi = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in X$$
 then we have:

$$(G(\varphi), \varphi)_{X} = (\delta u - v, u)_{1} + (Au + (\lambda - \delta)(v - \delta u), v)$$

$$= \delta ||u||_{1}^{2} - (Bu, Bv) + (Au, v) + (\lambda - \delta)||v||^{2}$$

$$-\delta(\lambda - \delta)(u, v)$$

$$= \delta ||u||_{1}^{2} + (\lambda - \delta)||v||^{2} - \delta(\lambda - \delta)(u, v)$$

$$> \delta ||u||_{1}^{2} + (\lambda - \delta)||v||^{2} - \delta\lambda ||u|||v||.$$

Then

$$(G(\varphi), \varphi)_X - \sigma \|\varphi\|_X^2 - \frac{\lambda}{2} \|v\|^2 \ge (\delta - \sigma) \|u\|_1^2 + (\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma) \|v\|^2 - \delta \lambda \|u\|_1 \|v\|$$

$$\ge 2\sqrt{(\delta - \sigma)(\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma)} \|u\|_1 \|v\| - \delta \lambda \|u\|_1 \|v\|.$$

We can check that $4(\delta - \sigma)(\frac{\lambda}{2} - \delta - \sigma) = \lambda^2 \delta^2$, so that

$$(G(\varphi), \varphi)_X - \sigma \|\varphi\|_X^2 - \frac{\lambda}{2} \|v\|^2 \ge 0.$$

The proof is completed.

We already established in lemma 3.1.1 the existence of local solutions for the system (3.11). Now we will show that the solution exists globally, which is a direct consequence of the boundedness.

Lemma 3.1.3 Assume that the nonlinearity f verifies (3.5), then any solution $\varphi(t)$ of system (3.11) exists globally for all $t \geq 0$ and satisfies

$$\|\varphi\|_X^2 \le M^2 = \frac{2}{\lambda \mu} \|g\|^2, \quad \text{for } t \ge T_1$$
 (3.15)

for some constants μ and $T_1 = T_1(R, \lambda, g)$ where $\|\varphi_0\| \leq R$.

Proof: Let $\varphi(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ v(t) \end{pmatrix} \in X$ be any solution of system (3.11) with $v(t) = \delta u(t) + \dot{u}(t)$.

Taking the inner product of (3.11) with $\varphi(t)$ in X, we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|\varphi\|_{X}^{2} + (G(\varphi), \varphi) + (f(u), \dot{u}) + (f(u), \delta u) = (g, v). \tag{3.16}$$

By (3.5) we have

$$(f(u), \dot{u}) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} f(u_i) \dot{u}_i = \frac{d}{dt} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i), \tag{3.17}$$

$$(f(u), u) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} f(u_i) u_i \ge \nu \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i).$$
(3.18)

Since $(g, v) \le \frac{1}{2\lambda} ||g||^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} ||v||^2$, it follows from (3.13) that

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \|\varphi\|_X^2 + 2\sigma \|\varphi\|_X^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \|v\|^2 + \frac{d}{dt} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i) + \nu \delta \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i) \le \frac{1}{2\lambda} \|g\|^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \|v\|^2,$$

that is

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[\|\varphi\|_X^2 + 2\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i) \right] + 2\sigma \|\varphi\|_X^2 + 2\nu\delta \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i) \le \frac{1}{\lambda} \|g\|^2.$$
 (3.19)

And taking $\mu = \inf \{2\sigma, \nu\delta\}$, we get

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[\|\varphi\|_X^2 + 2\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i) \right] + \mu \left[\|\varphi\|_X^2 + 2\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i) \right] \le \frac{1}{\lambda} \|g\|^2.$$
 (3.20)

Using Gronwall's inequality we have

$$\|\varphi\|_X^2 + 2\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_i) \le e^{-\mu t} \left[\|\varphi(0)\|_X^2 + 2\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} F(u_{i,0}) \right] + \frac{1}{\lambda \mu} \|g\|^2 (1 - e^{-\mu t})$$

which implies

$$\|\varphi\|_X^2 \le e^{-\mu t} \left[\|\varphi(0)\|_X^2 + \frac{2}{\nu} \max_{-\|u^0\| \le s \le \|u^0\|} |f'(s)| \|u^0\|^2 \right] + \frac{1}{\lambda \mu} \|g\|^2 (1 - e^{-\mu t}). \tag{3.21}$$

This yields $\lim_{t\to T(\varphi_0)} \|\varphi\|_X < \infty$, so that the solution $\varphi(t)$ exists globally for all t>0. Now let R>0, $\|\varphi_0\|_X \leq R$ and $C_R = \max_{-R\leq s\leq R} |f'(s)|$ then

$$\|\varphi\|_X^2 \le e^{-\mu t} \left(R^2 + \frac{C_R R^2}{\nu} \right) + \frac{1}{\lambda \mu} \|g\|^2.$$
 (3.22)

Thus (3.15) follows with $T_1 = \frac{1}{\mu} \ln \left\{ \frac{\lambda \mu (R^2 + \frac{C_R R^2}{\nu})}{\|g\|^2} \right\}$ and the proof is complete.

The previous Lemma 3.1.3 implies that equation (3.11) generates a continuous semiflow $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ on X which posses a bounded absorbing set

$$O = \{ w \in X : ||w||_X \le M \}.$$
 (3.23)

That is: for every bounded set $\mathcal{B} \subset X$, there a constant $T(\mathcal{B}) > 0$ such that

$$S(t)\mathcal{B} \subseteq O, \quad t \ge T(\mathcal{B}).$$
 (3.24)

In particular there exists a constant T_0 depending only on (λ, g) and O such that

$$S(t)O \subseteq O, \quad t \ge T_0. \tag{3.25}$$

3.2 Global Attractor

Now that we have established the existence of absorbing set, it only remains to prove that the semiflow S(t) is asymptotically compact to conclude the existence of global attractor. First we present some type of "tail estimate" which will be useful toward proving the asymptotic compactness.

Lemma 3.2.1 Let $\varphi(0) = \begin{pmatrix} u^0 \\ v^0 \end{pmatrix} \in O$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist positive constants

 $T(\varepsilon)$ and $K(\varepsilon)$ such that the solution $\varphi(t)=\left(egin{array}{c} u(t) \\ v(t) \end{array}
ight)\in X$ of system (3.11) satisfies

$$\sum_{|i| \ge K(\varepsilon)} \left[|(Bu(t))_i|^2 + |v_i(t)|^2 \right] \le \varepsilon, \qquad t \ge T(\varepsilon).$$
(3.26)

Proof: Choose a smooth function $\theta \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R})$ such that $0 \leq \theta(s) \leq 1$ for $s \in \mathbb{R}^+$, and

$$\theta(s) = 0$$
 for $0 \le s \le 1$; $\theta(s) = 1$ for $s \ge 2$.

Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that $|\theta'(s)| \leq C$ for $s \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

Let k be a fixed positive integer. Set $w_i = \theta(\frac{|i|}{k})u_i$, $z_i = \theta(\frac{|i|}{k})u_i$, $y = \begin{pmatrix} w \\ z \end{pmatrix} \in X$. Take inner product of (3.11) with y in X to get

$$(\dot{\varphi}, y)_X + (G(\varphi), y)_X = (R(\varphi), y)_X. \tag{3.27}$$

We can check that

$$(\dot{\varphi}, y)_X = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) |\varphi_i|_X^2, \tag{3.28}$$

where

$$|\varphi_i|_X^2 = |(Bu)_i|^2 + |v_i|^2 = |u_{i+1} - u_i|^2 + |v_i|^2.$$
(3.29)

Now

$$(G(\varphi), y) = \delta(Bu, Bw) - (Bv, Bw) + (Bu, Bz) + (\lambda - \delta)(v - \delta u, z). \tag{3.30}$$

Let's estimate the terms in (3.30) one by one.

$$(Bu, Bw) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\{ \left[\theta(\frac{|i+1|}{k}) - \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) \right] (u_{i+1} - u_i) u_{i+1} \right.$$

$$\left. + \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) (u_{i+1} - u_i)^2 \right\}$$

$$\geq -\frac{4C_0 r_0^2}{k} + \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) (u_{i+1} - u_i)^2, \quad \forall t \geq T_0,$$

$$(Bv, Bw) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[\theta(\frac{|i+1|}{k}) (v_{i+1} - v_i) u_{i+1} - \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) (v_{i+1} - v_i) u_i \right],$$

$$(Bu, Bz) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[\theta(\frac{|i+1|}{k}) (u_{i+1} - u_i) v_{i+1} - \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) (u_{i+1} - u_i) v_i \right],$$

$$(Bu, Bz) - (Bv, Bw) = \left[\theta(\frac{|i+1|}{k}) - \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) \right] (u_{i+1}v_i - u_i v_{i+1})$$

$$\geq -\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{|\theta'(\tau_i)|}{k} |u_{i+1}v_i - u_i v_{i+1}|$$

$$\geq -\frac{4C_0 r_0^2}{k}, \quad \forall t \geq T_0,$$

$$(\lambda - \delta)(v - \delta u, z) = (\lambda - \delta) \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) v_i^2 - \delta(\lambda - \delta) \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) u_i v_i$$

$$\geq (\lambda - \delta) \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) v_i^2 - \delta\lambda \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) u_i v_i.$$

Thus, since $\delta < 1$, we get that

$$(G(\varphi), y) \geq -\frac{8C_0r_0^2}{k} + \delta \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) |(Bu)_i|^2 + (\lambda - \delta) \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) v_i^2$$

$$-\lambda \delta \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) u_i v_i \qquad \forall t \ge 0.$$

And following the same arguments as in the proof of (3.13) we can get

$$(G(\varphi), y) \ge -\frac{8C_0 r_0^2}{k} + \delta \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) \left[\sigma |\varphi_i|_X^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} |v_i|^2 \right], \qquad \forall t \ge T_0.$$
 (3.31)

Now we estimate the right-hand side of (3.28):

$$(R(\varphi), y)_{X} = -(f(u), z) + (g, z),$$

$$(f(u), z) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) f(u_{i}) \dot{u}_{i} + \delta \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) f(u_{i}) u_{i}$$

$$\geq \frac{d}{dt} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) F(u_{i}) + \delta \nu \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) G(u_{i}),$$

$$(g, z) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) g_{i} v_{i} = \sum_{|i| \geq k} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) g_{i} v_{i}$$

$$\leq \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{|i| \geq k} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) v_{i}^{2} + \frac{1}{2\alpha} \sum_{|i| \geq k} g_{i}^{2}.$$

$$(g, z) \leq \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) v_{i}^{2} + \frac{1}{2\alpha} \sum_{|i| > k} g_{i}^{2}.$$

$$(3.33)$$

Substituting inequalities (3.28), (3.31)-(3.33) into (3.27), we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) [|\varphi_i|_X^2 + 2F(u_i)] + \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) [2\sigma |\varphi_i|_X^2 + 2\delta \nu F(u_i)]$$

$$\leq \frac{8C_0 r_0^2}{k} + \frac{1}{\alpha} \sum_{|i| > k} g_i^2.$$

Since $g \in \ell^2$, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a constant $K(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\frac{8C_0r_0^2}{k} + \frac{1}{\alpha} \sum_{|i| > k} g_i^2 \le \varepsilon.$$

Then for $t \geq T_0$, $k \geq K(\varepsilon)$, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) [|\varphi_i|_X^2 + 2F(u_i)] + \mu \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) [|\varphi_i|_X^2 + 2F(u_i)] \le \varepsilon,$$

where $\mu = \inf\{2\sigma, \delta\nu\}$. By Gronwall's inequality,

$$\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k})[|\varphi_i|_X^2 + 2F(u_i)]$$

$$\leq e^{-\mu(t-T_0)} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k})[|\varphi_i(T_0)|_X^2 + 2F(u_i(T_0))] + \frac{\varepsilon}{\mu}$$

$$\leq e^{-\mu(t-T_0)} r_0^2 \left(1 + \frac{2}{\nu} M_0\right) + \frac{\varepsilon}{\mu}, \quad \forall t \geq T_0.$$

where $M_0 = \max_{-r_0/\nu \le s \le r_0/\nu} |f'(s)|$. Taking

$$T(\varepsilon) = \max \left\{ T_0, T_0 + \frac{1}{\mu} \ln \frac{\mu}{\varepsilon} (1 + \frac{2}{\nu} M_0) r_0^2 \right\},$$

then for $t \geq T(\varepsilon)$ and $k \geq K(\varepsilon)$ we have

$$\sum_{|i| \ge k} |\varphi_i|_X^2 \le \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta(\frac{|i|}{k}) |\varphi_i|_X^2 \le \frac{2\varepsilon}{\mu},\tag{3.34}$$

which implies Lemma 3.1. The proof is completed.

Lemma 3.2.2 The semigroup $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ is asymptotically compact in X, namely, if $\{\varphi_n\}_n$ is bounded in X and $t_n \to \infty$ then $\{S(t_n)\varphi_n\}_n$ is precompact in X.

Proof: Assume that $\|\varphi_n\|_X \leq r$, $n \geq 1$ for some positive constant r. By (3.24) there exists T, such that

$$S(t)\{\varphi_n\} \subset O, \quad \forall t \ge T$$
 (3.35)

where O is the absorbing set in (3.23). Now since $t_n \to +\infty$, there exists $N_1(r)$ such that $t_n \geq T$ if $n \geq N(r)$ which implies that

$$S(t)\{\varphi_n\} \subset O, \quad \forall n \ge N_1(r)$$
 (3.36)

so that there exists $\varphi_0 \in X$ and a subsequence of $\{S(t_n)\varphi_n\}_n$ (denoted still by $\{S(t_n)\varphi_n\}_n$) such that

$$S(t_n)\varphi_n \to \varphi_0$$
 weakly in X . (3.37)

We want to show that this convergence is the strong sense. Indeed let $\varepsilon > 0$, by Lemma 3.2.1 and (3.35) there exists $K_1(\varepsilon)$, $T(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{|i| \ge K_1(\varepsilon)} \| (S(t)(S(T_r)\varphi_n))_i \|_X^2 \le \frac{\varepsilon^2}{8}, \quad t \ge T(\varepsilon).$$

By $t_n \to +\infty$, there exists $N_2(r,\varepsilon)$ such that $t_n \geq T_r + T(\varepsilon)$ if $n \geq N_2(r,\varepsilon)$. Hence,

$$\sum_{|i| \ge K_1(\varepsilon)} \|(S(T_n)\varphi_n)_i\|_X^2 = \sum_{|i| \ge K_1(\varepsilon)} \|(S(t_n - T_r)(S(T_r)\varphi_n))_i\|_X^2 \le \frac{\varepsilon^2}{8}.$$
 (3.38)

Again, since $\varphi_0 \in X$, there exists $K_2(\varepsilon)$ such that

$$\sum_{|i| \ge K_2(\varepsilon)} \|\varphi_0\|_X^2 \le \frac{\varepsilon^2}{8}.$$

Let $K(\varepsilon) = \max\{K_1(\varepsilon), K_2(\varepsilon)\}$ then by (3.37) we have

$$((S(T_n)\varphi_n)_i)_{|i| \le K(\varepsilon)} \to ((\varphi_0)_i)_{|i| \le K(\varepsilon)}$$
 strongly in $\mathbb{R}^{2K(\varepsilon)+1}$

as $n \to +\infty$, that is there exists $N_3(\varepsilon)$ such that

$$\sum_{|i| \le K(\varepsilon)} \|(S(T_n)\varphi_n)_i - (\varphi_0)_i\|_X^2 \le \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2}, \qquad \forall n \ge N_3(\varepsilon).$$
(3.39)

Setting $N(\varepsilon) = \max\{N_1(\varepsilon), N_2(\varepsilon), N_3(\varepsilon)\}$, we conclude for $n \geq N(\varepsilon)$ that

$$||S(T_{n})\varphi_{n} - \varphi_{0}||_{X}^{2} = \sum_{|i| \leq K(\varepsilon)} ||(S(T_{n})\varphi_{n})_{i} - (\varphi_{0})_{i}||_{X}^{2}$$

$$+ \sum_{|i| > K(\varepsilon)} ||(S(T_{n})\varphi_{n})_{i} - (\varphi_{0})_{i}||_{X}^{2}$$

$$\leq \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{2} + 2 \sum_{|i| > K(\varepsilon)} ||(S(T_{n})\varphi_{n})_{i}||_{X}^{2} - ||\varphi_{0}\rangle_{i}||_{X}^{2}$$

$$< \varepsilon^{2}.$$

The proof is completed.

Now we state the main result of this chapter as follows.

Theorem 3.2.1 Assume that f satisfies (3.5) and $g \in \ell^2$. Then, the dynamical system generated by equation (3.11) possesses a global attractor in $X = V \times H$ which is a compact invariant subset that attracts every bounded set of X with respect to the norm topology.

Proof: The conclusion follows from Theorem 1.1.1 since, by (3.24), there exists a bounded absorbing set and the semiflow is asymptotically compact by Lemma 3.2.2.

4 FINAL REMARKS

We finish this work by presenting some final remarks on the dynamics of evolutionary equations in unbounded domains. We also describe some open problems and new perspectives in this area.

Finite Dimensionality and Exponential Attractors

One major feature of global attractors is that they usually have finite dimension. This reduces the number of degrees of freedom of the system which hopefully will give it a simpler description. There are two concepts of dimensions that are mostly used: the Hausdorff and fractal dimensions.

However, the global attractor has two major drawbacks: on the one hand the rate of attraction can be arbitrarily slow and on the other hand it is in general only upper semicontinuous with respect to perturbations so that the global attractor can change very drastically under very small perturbations in the structure of the original dynamical system. This leads to essential difficulties in numerical simulations of the global attractor and even makes it, in some sense, unobservable.

In view of these drawbacks, the concept of *exponential attractor* has been suggested by Eden, Foias, Nicolaenko and Teman in [7]. It is a compact, positively invariant set with finite fractal dimension, which attracts the bounded sets at an exponential rate. It is therefore more robust than the global attractor but it is not unique.

We will introduce the concepts of fractal and Hausdorff dimensions for general sets in a Banach space X.

Definition 4.0.1 Let A be a subset of a Banach space X, d > 0, $\varepsilon > 0$. Then set

$$\mu_{d,\varepsilon}(A) = \inf \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{k} r_i^d : r_i \le \varepsilon \quad and \quad A \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} B_{r_i} \right\}, \tag{4.1}$$

where B_{r_i} denotes a ball of radius r_i in X.

It can be shown that $\mu_{d,\varepsilon}(A)$ increases as ε decreases.

Definition 4.0.2 We define the d-dimensional Hausdorff measure of A as:

$$\mu_d = \sup_{\varepsilon > 0} \mu_{d,\varepsilon}(A) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mu_{d,\varepsilon}(A). \tag{4.2}$$

And the **Hausdorff dimesion** of A is defined by:

$$d_H(A) = \inf\{d > 0 : \mu_d(A) = 0\}. \tag{4.3}$$

A stronger measure of dimension is furnished by the fractal dimension.

Definition 4.0.3 Let A be a subset of the Banach space X. Let

 $N_{\varepsilon}(A) = the \ minimum \ number \ of \ balls \ of \ radii \leq \varepsilon \ that \ are \ necessary \ to \ cover \ A.$

Then the **fractal dimension** of A, $d_F(A)$ is defined by:

$$d_F(A) = \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\log N_{\varepsilon}(A)}{\log(\frac{1}{\varepsilon})}.$$
(4.4)

Another characterization of the fractal dimension is

$$d_F(A) = \inf \{ d > 0 : \mu_{d,F} = \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^d N_{\varepsilon}(A) = 0 \}.$$
 (4.5)

Next, we give the definition of an exponential attractor for a semiflow $\{S(t)\}$ defined on a Banach space X.

Definition 4.0.4 A compact set \mathcal{M} is called an **exponential attractor** or **inertial set** for the semiflow $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ on X if

(i)
$$SM \subset M$$
.

- (ii) \mathcal{M} has finite fractal dimension, $d_F(\mathcal{M})$,
- (iii) there are positive constants c_0 and c_1 such that

$$h(S^n B, \mathcal{M}) \le c_0 e^{-c_1 t}, \qquad \forall n \ge 1. \tag{4.6}$$

Here $h(\cdot,\cdot)$ is the Hausdorff pseudometric defined in (1.5).

For evolutionary PDEs in an unbounded domain, there have been results on the finite dimensionality of the global attractor as well as the existence of an exponential attractor, see for instance [2], [9], [25]. However, there have been counterexamples on infinite dimensionality of the global attractor (see [2], [14], [54]), this implies automatically the nonexistence of an exponential attractor. That is why the concept of Kolmogorov's ε -entropy is exploited to obtain some qualitative and quantitative information on such infinite dimensional attractors. It is defined as follows.

Definition 4.0.5 Let K be a precompact set in a metric space M and $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $N_{\varepsilon}(K, M)$ be the minimal number of ε -balls that cover K. Then the **Kolomogorov's** ε -entropy of K in M is the following number:

$$\mathbb{H}_{\varepsilon}(K,M) := \ln N_{\varepsilon}(K,M). \tag{4.7}$$

It is proved in [15] and [53, 54] that for a large class of equations of mathematical physics in unbounded domains, the ε -entropy of the restrictions $\mathcal{A}|_{\Omega \cap B_{x_0}^R} := \{u_0|_{\Omega \cap B_{x_0}^R}, u_0 \in \mathcal{A}\}$ of the corresponding global attractor to bounded subdomains $\Omega \cap \mathcal{C}_{x_0}^R$, where $\mathcal{C}_{x_0}^R := x_0 + [-\frac{R}{2}, \frac{R}{2}]^N$ is the R-cube of \mathbb{R}^N centered at x_0 , satisfies

$$\mathbb{H}_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{A}|_{\Omega \cap \mathcal{C}_{x_0}^R}, L^{\infty}(\mathcal{C}_{x_0}^R)) \le Cvol(\Omega \cap \mathcal{C}_{x_0}^{R+K\ln_+ R'/\varepsilon}) \ln_+ \frac{R'}{\varepsilon}, \tag{4.8}$$

where $\ln_+ z := \max\{0, \ln z\}$ and the constants C, K, and R' are independent of ε , R and x_0 .

This type of estimates led to the introduction of **infinite dimensional exponential** attractors by Effendiev, Miranville and Zelik in [10], by modifying the classical definition

of exponential attractors and replacing the condition of finite fractal dimensionality by the ε -entropy estimates (4.8). They prove in [10] that for certain reaction-diffusion equations the corresponding semiflow admits an infinite dimensional exponential attractor.

It would be interesting to investigate the existence of infinite dimensional exponential attractors for wave equations in unbounded domains.

Wave Equations in Exterior Domains

In this work we have considered wave equations in unbounded domains. An interesting class of such equations are the wave equations in an exterior domain,

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} - \Delta u + \rho(x, u_t) = f(u) & \text{in } \Omega \times [0, +\infty) \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x), \ u_t(x, 0) = u_1(x), \ \text{and } u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

where Ω is an exterior domain, that is $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^N - K$ for a compact connected subset K. This type of equations have been extensively studied by M. Nakao [32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37]. In [35], he showed the total energy decay for the corresponding linear equation which is applied to obtain the global existence of finite energy solutions for the nonlinear equation. Furthermore he derived the energy decay of the nonlinear equation in [32]. Some other authors have also studied similar equations for instance, Tébou [46] and E. Zuazua [57] among others.

There are interesting questions related to equation (4.9). The energy decay established in [32], [34], [36] implies the dissipativity of the system. The question is whether there exists a global attractor for such systems or not? Some other open problems have been mentioned by M. Nakao in [36], for instance, to derive some decay rate of local energy for solutions of (4.9) in the particular case where $\rho(x,t) = a(x)|u_t|^r u_t$ or $\rho(x,t) = a(x)(u_t + |u_t|^r u_t)$ with a(x) a localized function on some part ω of the boundary $\partial\Omega$.

Other Perspectives

Tail estimation

The tail estimation method has been crucial throughout our work to prove the asymptotical compactness in the case of wave equations in unbounded domains or for the lattice systems. In [50], B. Wang proved that this tail estimation (or asymptotical nullness) along with the existence of a bounded absorbing set are necessary and sufficient for the existence of a global attractor for lattice systems. It would of much interests to investigate such a feature for evolutionary PDEs in unbounded domains.

Wave equation without mass term

We obtained the existence of a global attractor for the wave equation without mass term (2.65) only for domains that are bounded in one direction. What happens for general unbounded domains or $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^N$ is still an open question.

References

- [1] R. A. Adams, Sobolev spaces, 2d Ed., Academic Press, 2003.
- [2] A.V. Babin, M.I. Vishik, Attractors of partial differential evolution equations in an unbounded domain, Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh 116A (1990), 221-243.
- [3] A. Babin, B. Nicolaenko, Exponential attractors of reaction-diffusion systems in an unbounded domain, J. of dyn. and diff. Eq., Vol. 7, No. 4, (1995), 567-590.
- [4] P. Bates, K. Lu & B. Wang, Attractors for lattice dynamical systems, Int. J. Bifurc. Chaos, 11, No. 1, (2001), 143-153.
- [5] S.-N. Chow, J. Mallet-Paret, W. Shen, Travelling wave in lattice dynamical systems, J. Diff. Eq. 149, (1998), 248-291.
- [6] S.-N. Chow, R. Conti, R. Johnson, J. Mallet-Paret, R. Nussbaum, *Dynamical systems*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1822, Springer Verlag, Berlin Haidelberg 2003.
- [7] A. Eden, C. Foias, B. Nicolaenko, R. Temam, Exponential attractors for dissipative evolution equations, Research in Applied Mathematics, vol. 37, John Wiley-Masson, New York, 1994.
- [8] A. Eden, V.K. Kalantarov, On the discrete squeezing property for semilinear wave equations, Tr. J. Of Math. 22 (1998), 335-341.
- [9] M. Effendiev, A. Miranville, S. Zelik, Exponential attractors for a nonlinear reaction-diffusion system in \mathbb{R}^3 , C.R. Acad. Paris, t. 330, Série I, 713-718, 2000.
- [10] M. Effendiev, A. Miranville, S. Zelik, Infinite-dimensional exponential attractors for nonlinear reaction-diffusion systems in unbounded domains and their approximation, Proceedings A of the Royal Society 460 (2044), 1107-1129, 2004.
- [11] M. Effendiev, A. Miranville, S. Zelik, Global and exponential attractors for nonlinear reaction-diffusion systems in unbounded domains, To appear in Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh: Section A.
- [12] M. Effendiev, A. Miranville, S. Zelik, Exponential attractors and finite-dimensional reduction for nonautonomous dynamical systems, To appear in Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh: Section A.

- [13] M. Effendiev, A. Miranville, S. Zelik, Exponential attractors for a singularly perturbed Cahn-Hillard system, To appear in Mathematische Nachrichten.
- [14] M. Effendiev, S. Zelik, The Attractor for a Nonlinear Reaction-Diffusion System in the Unbounded Domain, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **54** (2001), No. 6, 625-688.
- [15] M. Effendiev, S. Zelik, Upper and lower Bounds for the Kolmogorov Entropy of the Attractor for a Reaction-Diffusion Equation in an Unbounded Domain, J. Dyn. Diff. Eqns. 14 (2002), No. 2, 369-403.
- [16] E. Feireisl, Attractors for semilinear damped wave equations on \mathbb{R}^3 , Nonlinear Analysis 23, No. 2, (1994), 187-195.
- [17] E. Feireisl, Bounded Locally compact global attractors for semilinear damped wave equations on \mathbb{R}^N , J. Diff. and Int. Equations 9, No. 5 (1996), 1147-1156.
- [18] E. Feireisl, Long-time behavior and convergence for semilinear wave equations in \mathbb{R}^N , J. Dyn. of Diff Eq. 9, No. 1 (1997), 133-155.
- [19] E. Feireisl, On the long-time behaviour of solutions to nonlinear diffusion equations on \mathbb{R}^n , Nonl. Diif. eq. appl. 4 (1997), 43-60.
- [20] E. Feireisl, P. Laurençot, F. Simondon, H. Touré, Compact attractors for reaction-diffusion equations in \mathbb{R}^N , C.R. Acad. Sc. Paris, t. 319, Série I, (1994), 147-151.
- [21] V. Georgiev, S. Lucente, Weighted Sobolev spaces applied to nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation, C.R. Acad. Sc. Paris, t. 329, Série I, (1999), 21-26.
- [22] M. Gobbino, Topological Properties of attractors for dynamical systems, Topology 40, (2001), 279-298.
- [23] J.K Hale, Asymptotic Behavior of Dissipative Systems, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Vol 25, AMS, Providence 1988.
- [24] N. I. Karachalios, N. M. Stavrakakis, Existence of a global attractor for semilinear dissipative wave equations on \mathbb{R}^N , J. Diff. Eq. 157, (1999), 183-205.
- [25] N. I. Karachalios, N. M. Stavrakakis, Estimates on the dimension of a global attractor for a semilinear dissipative wave equation on \mathbb{R}^N , Disc. Cont. Dyn. Sys. Vol. bf 8, No. 4, (2002), 939-951.
- [26] A. Kufner, Weighted Sobolev sapces, John Wiley & Sons 1985.
- [27] W. Liu, B. Wang, Dynamics of the FitzHugh-Nagumo system, 2004, Preprint.
- [28] K. Lu, B. Wang, Global Attractors for the Klein-Gordon-Schrödinger Equation in Unbounded Domains, J. of Differential Equations 170, (2001), 281-316.
- [29] A. Lunardi, Analytic Semigroups and Optimal Regularity in Parabolic Problems, Birkhäusser, Basel, 1995.

- [30] A. Miranville, S. Zelik, Uniform exponential attractors for a singularly perturbed damped wave equation, Disc. Cont. Dyn. Sys. Vol. bf 9, No. 4, (2003), 1-27.
- [31] S. Merino, On the existence of the compact global attractor for semilinear reaction diffusion systems on \mathbb{R}^N , J. Diff. Eq. **132**, (1996), 87-106.
- [32] M. Nakao, Decay of solutions of the wave equation with some localized dissipations, Nonl. An., TMA, **30**, No. 6, (1997), 3775-3784.
- [33] M. Nakao, Stabilization of local energy in an exterior domain for the wave equation with a localized dissipation, J. Diff. Eq. 148, (1998), 388-406.
- [34] M. Nakao, Energy Decay for the linear and semilinear wave equations in exterior domains with some localized dissipations, Math. Z. 238, (2001), 781-797.
- [35] M. Nakao, Global existence for semilinear wave equations in exterior domains, Nonl. An. 47, (2001), 2497-2506.
- [36] M. Nakao, Decay and Global Existence for Nonlinear Wave Equations with localized dissipations in General Exterior Doamins, 2004, Monograph preprint.
- [37] J. J. Bae & M. Nakao, Existence for the Kirchhoff type wave equation with a localized weakly nonlinear dissipation in exterior domains, Disc. Cont. Dyn. Sys. 11, Nos. 2&3, (2004), 731-743.
- [38] A. Pazy, Semigroups of linear operators and applications to partial differential equations, Applied Mathematical Sciences, vol. 44, Springer Verlag, New York 1983.
- [39] K. Pflüger, Nonlinear boundary value problems in weighted Sobolev spaces, Nonl. An. TMA, **30**. No. 2, (1997), 1263-1270.
- [40] M. Prizzi, A remark on reaction-diffusion equations in unbounded domains, Disc. Cont. Dyn. syst., 9, No. 2, (2003), 281-286.
- [41] R. Rosa, The global attractor for the 2D Navier-Stokes flow on some unbounded domains, Nonl. An. TMA, 32, No. 1, (1998), 71-85.
- [42] G. R. Sell, Y. You, Dynamics of Evolutionary Equations, Springer, New York, 2002.
- [43] M. Stanislavova, A. Stefanov, B. Wang, Asymtotic smoothing and attractors for the generalized Benjamin-Bona-Mahony equation on \mathbb{R}^3 , 2004 Preprint.
- [44] W.A Strauss, *Nonlinear wave equations*, Conference board for mathematical sciences, Amer. Math. Soc., **73**, 1989.
- [45] M. Struwe, Semilnear Wave Equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 26, No. 1, (1992), 53-85.
- [46] L.R.T. Tébou On the decay estimates for the wave equation with a local degenrate or nondegenerate dissipation, Portugaliae Mathematica, Vol. 55 Fasc. 3 (1998).

- [47] R. Temam, Infinite-Dimensional Dynamical Systems in Mechanics and Physics, Springer, Berlin, 1988.
- [48] E.V. Vleck, B. Wang, Lattice FitzHugh-Nagumo systems, 2004, Preprint.
- [49] B. Wang, Attractors for reaction-diffusion equation in unbounded domains, Physica D 128 (1999), 41-52.
- [50] B. Wang, Dynamics of systems of infinite lattices, 2004, Preprint.
- [51] Y. You, Global dynamics of nonlinear wave equations with cubic non-monotone damping, Dynamics of PDE, Vol.1, No.1 (2004), 65-86.
- [52] Y. You, Spectral barriers and inertial manifolds for time-discretized dissipative equations, Comp. & Math. with Appl., 48, (2004), 1351-1368.
- [53] S.V. Zelik, The attractor for a nonlinear hyperbolic equation in the unbounded domain, Disc. Cont. Dyn. Sys., 7, No. 3, (2001), 593-611.
- [54] S. Zelik, The Attractor for a Nonlinear Reaction-Diffusion System in an Unbounded Domain and Kolmogorov's Epsilon-Entropy, Math. Nachr. 232 (2001), No. 1, 129-179.
- [55] S. Zheng, *Nonlinear evolution equations*, Monographs and surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics **133**, Chapman & Hall/CRC, 2004.
- [56] S. Zhou, Attractors for second order lattice dynamical systems, J. Differential Equations 179 (2002), 605-624.
- [57] E. Zuazua, Exponential decay for the semilinear wave equation with localized damping in unbounded domains, J. Math. Pures et appl., 70, (1991), 513-529.

About the Author

Djiby Fall was born in 1974 in Linguère, Sénégal. He received his Bachelor (1997) and Masters (1998) in Applied Mathematics at the University Gaston Berger in Saint-Louis, Sénégal. In the year 2000-2001 he participated in the Diploma programme in Mathematics at the Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics (ICTP), in Trieste, Italy. In the Fall 2001 he was admitted into the graduate program in mathematics at the University of South Florida (USF), in Tampa where he started working under the supervision of Professor Yuncheng You. His scholarly interests are in PDEs, Dynamical Systems, mathematical modeling in financial economics and fluid dynamics.